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SUMMARY OF KEY FINANCIAL RESULTS FOR THE PREVIOUS FIVE YEARS

Consolidated

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Net Profit / 
(Loss) after Tax 1,597,328 4,404,908 3,458,967 1,531,971 722,778

Current
Assets 34,991,310 34,581,398 28,327,379 16,571,580 13,069,832

Non - Current 
Assets 3,880,198 4,268,115 3,523,880 3,416,455 2,626,917

Total
Assets 38,871,508 38,849,513 31,851,259 19,988,035 15,696,749

Current 
Liabilities 22,327,243 23,150,505 20,247,477 11,665,814 9,161,708

Non - Current 
Liabilities 201,511 349,404 146,636 142,205 74,336

Total
Liabilities 22,528,754 23,499,909 20,394,113 11,808,019 9,236,044

Shareholders 
Equity 16,342,754 15,349,604 11,457,146 8,180,016 6,460,705

Holding Company

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Net Profit / 
(Loss) after Tax 1,012,190 3,759,637 2,730,213 1,260,356 664,423

Current
Assets 29,339,707 30,293,141 24,516,873 14,339,006 11,285,820

Non - Current 
Assets 4,407,337 4,565,057 3,837,455 3,957,095 3,361,118

Total
Assets 33,747,044 34,858,198 28,354,328 18,296,101 14,646,938

Current 
Liabilities 19,335,331 20,622,163 17,619,411 10,230,859 7,855,260

Non - Current 
Liabilities 201,511 349,404 146,636 142,338 73,680

Total
Liabilities 19,536,842 20,971,567 17,766,047 10,373,197 7,928,940

Shareholders 
Equity 14,210,202 13,886,631 10,588,281 7,922,904 6,717,998
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Chairman’s
Report



Dumith Fernando
Independent Chairperson

Dear Shareholders,
We are pleased to present the 2020 Annual Report for the Fiji-
Care Group for the year ending 31st of December 2020.  Despite 
an unpredictable and challenging year with the ongoing glob-
al COVID-19 pandemic, the Group’s consolidated Net Revenue 
from Insurance Activities increased by FJD1.2 million resulting 
in Total Net Insurance Revenue of FJD33 million for the full year 
2020. This was driven by resilient underwriting performance 
from the Group as Medical underwriting continues to be the 
core growth revenue driver. Additionally, it was encouraging to 
witness organic growth in the general insurance products of-
fered by FijiCare, where we expect to continue to gain momen-
tum in 2021. 

Our VanCare subsidiary operating in Vanuatu continues to per-
form well with a revenue growth of 41% and an increase in Net 
Profit to FJD 1.2 million.  The VanCare business is primarily CTP 
and Comprehensive Motor Insurance with Medical insurance 
coverage as well.

The Group’s consolidated Net Assets and Shareholders Equi-
ty position improved to FJD16.3 million in 2020 from FJD15.3 
million at the end of 2019. This has been achieved through the 
prudent management of assets and by adopting a cautious ap-
proach in controlling the liabilities of the business.

Annual Report 2020  |   

One of the main business challenges FijiCare faced in 
2020 was an escalation in the cost of medical claims 
such as medical evacuation costs due to the internation-
al travel restrictions resulting from the COVID-19 pan-
demic. In addition, we experienced an unprecedented 
increase in local medical costs in Fiji, which increased 
our consolidated incurred claims to FJD25.2 million in 
2020 compared to FJD22.6 million in 2019.  As such, 
the Group’s 2020 consolidated Profit after Income Tax 
reduced to FJD1.6 million compared to FJD4.4 million in 
the financial year 2019. 

We are optimistic that we will be able to improve our 
claims position in 2021 with the roll-out of COVID-19 
vaccinations locally and internationally and the expect-
ed easing of travel restrictions. Moreover, the upcoming 
establishment of another private hospital in Suva, spe-
cifically, Nasese Private Hospital, will enable us to offer 
our customers additional local service provider options.

Our VanCare subsidiary operating in Vanuatu has de-
livered a resilient performance. Despite the effects of 
COVID-19, the Gross Written Premium remained at FJD3 
million and profit of FJD1 million was recorded. The 
VanCare business is primarily Compulsory third-party 
Insurance and Comprehensive Motor Insurance with 
Medical insurance coverage as well.

2020 has been a year of transition for FijiCare, restruc-
turing our organisational structure and business opera-
tions with the planned departure of FijiCare’s Managing 
Director, Mr. Peter McPherson. Peter gave 23 years of 
dedicated service to the FijiCare Group and he will con-
tinue to serve on the FijiCare Board as a Non-Executive 
Director. I would like to take this opportunity to thank Pe-
ter for his considerable contribution towards FijiCare’s 
success and the FijiCare family wishes him the very 
best in his retirement.
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Dumith Fernando

In November 2020, I took on the Chairmanship as Mr. 
Avi Raju stepped down to take on a Management Posi-
tion as Executive Director of the Group.  Also, in 2020, 
four C-level executives were appointed to the core Man-
agement team, including our new Group Chief Operating 
Officer, Ms. Krishika Narayan, the former Chief Execu-
tive Officer of the South Pacific Stock Exchange. These 
organizational changes will undoubtedly strengthen our 
Group as we focus on achieving operational and finan-
cial success.

I would like to welcome the two new Independent Di-
rectors who have been appointed to the FijiCare Board 
– Ms. Jenny Seeto and Mr. Sylvain Flore.  Jenny brings 
extensive experience in good governance and risk 
management and is the first woman Director to join the 
FijiCare Board.  Sylvain has a wealth of experience in 
the insurance industry having served as the Chief Exec-
utive Officer for the Pacific for QBE Asia Pacific region

Notwithstanding the impediments caused by the COV-
ID-19 pandemic, we remain optimistic about our per-
formance in 2021 given our sound financial position, 
strong balance sheet and solid liquidity position.  Whilst 
FijiCare expects to see continuing challenges and un-
certainties ahead from the ongoing COVID-19 pan-
demic; we have tested our preparedness to serve our 
customers through most eventualities resulting from 
the pandemic and therefore our customers should feel 
confident that we will have their best interest at heart.

Mr. Fernando has over 20 years of experience in the glob-
al financial markets including Corporate Finance, Merg-
ers & Acquisitions, Private Equity Investments, Corporate 
Strategy and Equities.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all our em-
ployees for their outstanding efforts and contribution to 
our performance this year. Our employees’ work ethic, in-
tegrity, technical qualifications and operational expertise 
allow us to provide superior service to our customers. 

I would also like to extend my gratitude to the share-
holders, the other members of the Board and the  Man-
agement Team for their continued invaluable support. 

_________________________
Mr. Avi Raju
Non - Executive Chairman
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Finally, we would like to express thanks and recognize 
the contributions made by the employees of the FijiCare 
Group in servicing our clients. It is through their dedi-
cation, hard work and pursuit of excellence that the Fi-
jiCare Group is a premier insurance company in Fiji and 
across the Pacific.

I would also like to extend my gratitude to our clients, 
the shareholders, the members of the Board and the 
rest of the Management team for their continued invalu-
able support throughout 2020.

DUMITH FERNANDO
CHAIRMAN
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History

FiijCare is one of the largest insurance companies in Fiji providing a range of insurance cover to more than 150,000 
Fijians. FijiCare provides a comprehensive range of insurance products including Medical, Term Life, Motor, Personal Ac-
cident, Public Liability, WageCare, Mortgage Protection and Bundled Microinsurance. FijiCare was founded in 1989 and 
is the only insurance company listed on the South Pacific Stock Exchange since 2000. While the Company is primarily 
focused on the Fijian market, it expanded its operations to Vanuatu in 2014 through its fully owned subsidiary compa-
ny – VanCare Insurance Limited. FijiCare is the first and only insurance company in Fiji to create a mobile app for its 
policyholders. This leading-edge digital platform enables FijiCare policyholders to have online access to their policy in-
formation, claims history, updates and their Insurance eCard. FijiCare was awarded the 2018 Reuben James Summerlin 
Innovation Award in recognition of its contribution to Financial Inclusion in the Pacific through Bundled Microinsurance. 
The company was also awarded the Innovator of the Year at the South Pacific Stock Exchange Annual Awards in 2019.

Mission

FijiCare Insurance Limited is dedicated to providing insurance products that provide quality protection with value pric-
ing. We will achieve & maintain FijiCare’s customer service policy where Customers Are Really Everything (CARE).

Vision

“Better Health For Fiji”

Core Values

FijiCare is a company with a value-driven culture of shared, deeply held beliefs that guides our behavior and affects our 
decisions on how to conduct business.

Highest 
Ethical 

Standards

Commitment
To

Excellence

Investment
In Our
People

Respect
For 

Individuals
Accountability

Board of Directors
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Dumith Fernando is the Chairman of Asia Securities 
Holdings (Pvt) Ltd, a leading independent Investment 
Bank in Sri Lanka. He has two decades of experience in 
international Investment Banking and Equities, based in 
New York and Hong Kong with JPMorgan Chase & Co. 
and Credit Suisse AG.

Until 2013, he was the Managing Director and Group 
Chief Operating Officer for Credit Suisse Asia Pacific 
which had annual revenues of over USD $2.5BN and over 
6,000 staff in 12 countries. He worked at Credit Suisse 
from 2007 until 2013 and at JPMorgan from 1995 until 
2007 in roles across Investment Banking, Equities, Pri-
vate Equity and Corporate Strategy.

Dumith is also a Non-Executive Director of the listed 
firms Union Assurance PLC and Singer (Sri Lanka) PLC. 
and a member of the Economic Policy Steering Commit-
tee of the Ceylon Chamber of Commerce. In 2013, he 
was selected by the World Economic Forum as a Young 
Global Leader. He holds a BA in Physics & Economics 
from Middlebury College in the U.S. and an MBA from 
Harvard Business School.

Dumith Fernando
Independent Chairperson

Avi Raju is the Founder and Managing Director of the 
Mount Sophia Group, a Hong Kong based private in-
vestment group with investments globally. Over the 
last 4 years, Avi has focused his investments in Fiji, 
his birthplace.   He now has investments in insurance, 
health care, real estate and technology sectors in Fiji.

Avi has over 20 years of experience working in the tech-
nology, real estate and investment industries in the Asia 
Pacific region. Until May 2014, Avi was the Chief Informa-
tion Officer for Asia Pacific at Savills Limited, an interna-
tional property services group listed on the London Stock 
Exchange. He was responsible for the strategic develop-
ment and management of business systems across all 
of Savills’ 15 Asian offices with over 17,000 employees.

Avi has a Master of Business Administration (MBA) 
from the Richard Ivey School of Business (Universi-
ty of Western Ontario, Canada) and a Bachelors’ De-
gree in Commerce from the University of Auckland, 
New Zealand. Avi was born in Fiji and currently re-
sides in Singapore. Prior to Singapore, Avi has lived 
and worked in Hong Kong, Australia and New Zealand.

Avi Raju
Executive Director

ANNUAL REPORT - 2021

FIJICARE INSURANCE LIMITED 

Page  |  11



Peter McPherson was born in Sydney, Australia and 
holds a Masters of Management from the University 
of Western Sydney. Peter was the author of a thesis on 
“Death Factors in Fiji” which was published in medical 
journals in Fiji, New Zealand and Australia.

Peter has over 45 years of insurance experience where-
by his first employment was with Reed Insurance Bro-
kers from 1970 to 1982 following which he joined Zu-
rich Australia Insurance from 1982 to 1997. Peter had 
numerous managerial roles at Zurich with his last role 
being National Development Manager for Australia, New 
Zealand, PNG and Solomon Islands.

In October, 1997 Peter joined FijiCare as Managing Di-
rector and he has now been based in Fiji for more than 20 
years and is a Fiji citizen. He has a wealth of knowledge 
in medical and general insurance. Peter was instrumen-
tal in the design and implementation of the recently in-
troduced bundled microinsurance product. 
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Peter McPherson
Non-Executive Director
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Ms. Seeto has extensive experience in the areas of 
good governance and risk management. Ms. Seeto 
spent almost 40 years at PricewaterhouseCoopers.

 She was Joint Senior Partner of PwC from 1998 
and became sole Senior Partner in 2002 until her 
retirement in 2017. Ms. Seeto has extensive experience 
in providing audit, taxation and advisory services to 
a diverse range of international and local clients in 
various sectors of the economy including broking and 
insurance companies and financial institutions.

 She also contributed to the amendments to the 
Insurance Act and other legislation affecting the 
finance and credit sectors.

Jenny Seeto
Independent Director

Mr. Flore has over 40 years’ experience in the insurance 
industry. 

Mr. Flore has most recently served as the Chief 
Executive Officer for the Pacific for QBE Asia Pacific 
region and as a member of their Divisional Executive 
team overseeing their operations in Fiji, French 
Polynesia, New Caledonia, Papua New Guinea, Solomon 
Islands and Vanuatu. 

Over his career, Mr. Flore has served in various senior 
roles in Mauritius, Australia and the Pacific region in the 
insurance industry. He is a Chartered Insurer from the 
Chartered Insurance Institute (U.K) and an Associate 
Fellow of the Australian Institute of Management.

Sylvain Flore
Independent Director
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COMING TOGETHER IS A BEGINNING.
 KEEPING TOGETHER IS PROGRESS,WORKING TOGETHER 

IS SUCCESS.
“ “



Ms. Narayan was most recently the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the South 
Pacific Stock Exchange (SPX). Ms. Narayan has extensive experience in Fiji’s 
financial markets having worked at the SPX for over 11 years, serving as its 
CEO for the past 3 years. Ms. Narayan holds a Bachelor of Laws Degree and a 
Post Graduate Certificate in Financial Administration from the University of the 
South Pacific. She is currently a Board Director on Pacific Corporate Governance 
Institute and also serves as a member on the Capital Markets Development 
Taskforce established by the Reserve Bank of Fiji.

Ronald Narayan joined the company Finance Department in the year 2000 
and was promoted to IT Manager in 2010. He has over 18 years of vast work 
experience in the Finance Department and also deals with all IT implemen-
tation process. Ronald has a Diploma in Financial Planning ANZIIF (Snr As-
sociate) CIP and holds an MBA from the University of the South Pacific.

Victor Robert
Group Chief Financial Officer

Krishika Narayan
Group Chief Operating Officer

Ronald Narayan
Group Chief Information Officer

Joni Naverebalavu
Group Chief Marketing Officer

Victor Robert has over 19 years of experience in Finance role at FijiCare Insurance 
Limited. He was promoted to Finance Manager in 2006. Victor has a Diploma in 
Accounting from the University of the South Pacific and a Diploma in Financial 
Planning ANZIIF (Snr Associate) CIP and holds an MBA from the University of the 
South Pacific. He is also the Company Secretary for FijiCare Insurance Limited.

With over 23 years of experience at FijiCare Insurance Limited, Joni Navere-
balavu plays a vital role in the company. Joined in November 1995, he has had 
several roles in the company including claims and Underwriting department. 
In 2007 he managed the Underwriting department and moved to Business De-
velopment in 2008. From 2014 to 2016 he helped setup VanCare Insurance 
Limited in Vanuatu as the Chief Operating Officer and in 2016 he took up the 
role of Business Development Manager. Joni holds a Diploma in Insurance.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Governance, Leadership & Setting the Tone ‘From the Top’

FijiCare Insurance Limited (‘FIL’) is committed to ensuring that a strong governance framework operates throughout the 
Group, recognising that good corporate governance is a vital component to support management in their delivery of the 
Company’s strategic objectives, and to operate a sustainable business for the benefit of all stakeholders. FIL recognises 
that the process of identifying, developing and maintaining high standards of corporate governance suitable for the 
Company is ongoing and dynamic to reflect changes in the Company and its business, the composition of the Board and 
developments in corporate governance.

FIL reports to the Reserve Bank of Fiji (‘RBF’) as a Financial Institution designated under Fijian laws, and the South Pacif-
ic Stock Exchange (‘SPX’) as a Publicly Listed Company. As such, FIL is governed by the Reserve Bank of Fiji’s twelve In-
surance Policy and Supervision advisories and addendum guidance notes, as well as the South Pacific Stock Exchange’s 
Continuing Listing Rules (subsumed within the Listing Rules) and the Companies Act 2015.  

Annual Compliance Report on Corporate Governance in Accordance with RBF PSPS No.1 and SPX 
Listing Rules

Principle Requirement Compliance Status

1. Establish Clear 
     Responsibilities for Board 
     Oversight

Separation of duties: Clear separation 
of duties between Board and Senior 
Management.

The Board derives its mandate from the Board Char-
ter and is governed by FIL’s Articles of Association. 

Regulatory Guidance

According to the RBF’s Prudential Supervision Policy 
Statement No. 1 - Minimum Requirements for Corpo-
rate Governance of Licensed Entities (‘PSPS 1’), the 
minimum responsibilities of the Board encompass 
reviewing the Company’s organisational structure, 
overseeing the implementation of the Company’s 
governance framework and its adherence to current 
legislative and regulatory norms, as well as other 
broad roles outlined in section 5.1.5 of PSPS 1. 

To this effect, FIL has implemented a Corporate Gov-
ernance Charter which fairly incorporates the require-
ments of PSPS 1. Senior Management, headed by the 
Executive Director, assist the Board with the opera-
tional running of the company. 

These requirements have also been incorporated 
into FIL’s Board Charter.

Board Charter: Adopt a Board Charter 
detailing functions and responsibili-
ties of the Board.

Board Charter

Through the Board Charter, directors are expected to 
adopt a proactive, dynamic and hands-on approach 
in their role to ensure the maintenance of the high-
est standards of ethics and business success. The 
Board Charter clearly identifies the Board’s roles and 
responsibilities as follows:

Annual Report 2020   |   
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Annual Compliance Report on Corporate Governance in Accordance with RBF PSPS No.1 and SPX 
Listing Rules [cont’d]

Principle Requirement Compliance Status

1. Establish Clear 
    Responsibilities for Board 
    Oversight

Board Charter: Adopt a Board 
Charter detailing functions and 
responsibilities of the Board.

• Overseeing the effective management and 
control of FIL;

• Ensuring that new Board members under-
go adequate induction training and are fully 
cognisant of their respective duties and 
responsibilities, as well as ensuring that a 
formal programme of professional ongoing 
development and training is set up;

• Setting up and reviewing the strategic 
direction of FIL;

• Approving and monitoring of key budgets, 
business plans, financial statements, finan-
cial policies and financial reporting;

• Developing and implementing key corpo-
rate policies, procedures and controls as 
necessary to ensure appropriate standards 
of accountability, risk management and 
corporate governance;

• Overseeing the adequacy of managerial re-
sources to ensure there is adequate depth 
of resources and appropriate succession 
planning;

• Approving proposals for major new in-
vestments, capital expenditure and capital 
management initiatives as proposed by 
management; and

• Ensuring that Shareholders receive high 
quality, relevant and accurate information 
in a timely manner and that investors gen-
erally are able to trade in the Company’s 
securities in a market which is efficient, 
competitive and informed.

2. Constitute an Effective 
     Board

Board Composition: Balanced 
Board Composition with Execu-
tive and Non-Executive Directors 
of which 1/3rd of total number 
of directors to be Independent 
Directors. 

The Board, supported by its two subcommit-
tees, is tasked with broad purposes covering 
its strategic direction, maintaining accountabil-
ity, and ensuring the sustainable growth and 
financial soundness of the Company. Above all, 
it is responsible to its Shareholders for uphold-
ing good corporate governance practices in the 
Company in increasing shareholder value and 
optimising company performance.

In 2020, the Board comprised of 5 Directors, 
who were appointed by FIL’s shareholders and 
through the auspices of FIL’s Articles of As-
sociation. The appointments were all made in 
accordance with the Companies Act 2015. The 
Board currently consists of:
Mr. Dumith Fernando – Chairperson
Mr. Avi Raju – Executive Director
Mr. Peter McPherson – Non-Executive Director
Mr. Sylvain Flore – Independent Director
Ms. Jenny Seeto – Independent Director
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Annual Compliance Report on Corporate Governance in Accordance with RBF PSPS No.1 and SPX 
Listing Rules [cont’d]

Principle Requirement Compliance Status

2. Constitute an Effective 
     Board

Board Composition: Balanced 
Board Composition with Execu-
tive and Non-Executive Directors 
of which 1/3rd of total number 
of directors to be Independent 
Directors.

The Directors bring with them each a vast re-
serve of experience, specialisation and knowl-
edge in their respective fields, ranging from 
Insurance & Commerce, Information Technol-
ogy, Business Strategy & Governance and Risk 
Management.

Gender Diversity: Do you have a 
policy for promoting gender diver-
sity at Board level and have you 
achieved your policy goals?

The Board Charter has been amended to 
include provisions on gender diversity at the 
Board level. Ms. Jenny Seeto is the first women 
director to be appointed on the FijiCare Board. 

Nomination Committee: Selec-
tion, approval, renewal and suc-
cession of Directors to be con-
ducted by Nomination Committee 
in accordance with Articles of 
Association of the Company and 
Fit and Proper Policy of Reserve 
Bank.

Although FijiCare has not established a sep-
arate Nomination Committee, the FijiCare 
Governance & Risk Management Committee 
has been charged with the responsibility of 
selection, approval, renewal and succession of 
directors in line with the company’s Articles of 
Association and the Board Charter.  

Board Evaluation: Process of 
evaluation of performance of 
the Board, its Committees and 
individual directors. Evaluation 
to be linked to key performance 
indicators of the listed entity. 

This process is outlined in the Board Charter. 
Board evaluation is to be done internally, but 
the provisions of the Board Charter allow the 
Board to seek external evaluation at its discre-
tion.

Directors Training: Directors’ train-
ing and induction procedure to be 
in place to allow new directors to 
participate fully and effectively. 

Included in the Board Charter.

Board must have sub-committees 
which must at minimum include: 
• Audit Committee;
• Risk Management Commit-

tee; and
• Nomination Committee/ 

Recruitment Committee

The Board has established the following 
sub-committees:

-Audit Committee 
-Governance & Risk Management Committee
-Treasury & Investment Committee

3. Appointment of Chief 
    Executive Officer / 
    Managing Director

CEO: To appoint a suitably quali-
fied and competent Chief Execu-
tive Officer / Managing Director. 

The Executive Director has been appointed in 
line with the Board Charter requirements.

4. Appointment of a Board and 
    Company Secretary

Company Secretary: Board to 
appoint a suitably qualified and 
competent Company Secretary, 
who is accountable to the Board, 
through Chair, for all compliance 
and governance issues. 

In place and outlined in the Board Charter.
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Annual Compliance Report on Corporate Governance in Accordance with RBF PSPS No.1 and SPX 
Listing Rules [cont’d]

Principle Requirement Compliance Status

5. Timely and balanced 
    disclosure

Annual Reports:

Timely and accurate disclosures 
are made in Annual reports as per 
Rule 51 of Listing Rules

Disclosures made in conformity with the SPX 
Listing Rules.

Payment to Directors and Senior 
management:

Sufficient information to be pro-
vided to shareholders on remu-
neration paid to Directors and 
Senior management.

Information on this is outlined in the Annual 
Report in accordance with International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards. 

Continuous Disclosure:

General disclosures or company 
announcements to be made in a 
timely manner. The disclosures 
should be factual without omit-
ting material information and to 
be expressed in a clear and objec-
tive manner to shareholders. 

Disclosures made in conformity with the SPX 
Listing Rules. FIL takes a proactive stance on 
this, and practices  continuous disclosures on 
an ongoing basis.  

6. Promote ethical and 
     responsible 
    decision-making

Code of Conduct:

To establish a minimum Code of 
Conduct of the listed entity appli-
cable to directors, senior manage-
ment and employees and conduct 
regular trainings on the same. 

In place and included in the Board Charter and 
the Corporate Manual

7. Register of Interests Conflicts of Interest:

Transactions with related parties 
resulting in conflict of interest are 
disclosed and a register is main-
tained for this purpose. 

Register of Interests in place for Board of 
Directors and Staff members. A policy on Con-
flict of Interest and Related Party Transactions 
is in place.  

8. Respect the rights of 
     shareholders

Communication with sharehold-
ers: 

To design communication strate-
gy to promote effective commu-
nication with shareholders and 
encourage their participation. Ex-
amples: Communication through 
Annual Reports, Annual General 
Meetings, or any other means of 
electronic communication.

Timely disclosure to all shareholders is done 
through Market Announcements. 

Annual Report and Annual General Meetings 
are also disseminated / conducted yearly. 

Website:

To create and maintain a Website 
of the listed entity to communi-
cate effectively with shareholders 
and other stakeholders. All mat-
ters of importance to be updated 
regularly on the Website.

FIL’s official website: www.fijicare.com.fj 

FIL also engenders a proactive approach in 
free and mutual communication with all its 
shareholders through its official LinkedIn ac-
count and other social media platforms. 
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Annual Compliance Report on Corporate Governance in Accordance with RBF PSPS No.1 and SPX 
Listing Rules [cont’d]

Principle Requirement Compliance Status

8. Respect the rights of 
    shareholders

Grievance Redressal Mechanism:

To establish a Grievance Redres-
sal Mechanism for Shareholders 
to address shareholders com-
plaints and grievances.  

Shareholder Grievance Redressal Policy has 
been implemented.

Shareholders’ Complaints:

To provide the number of share-
holders’ complaints received 
and attended to during the year. 
Provide reasons if any complaint 
is unresolved or unattended.

None received. 

Corporate Sustainability:

To adopt a business approach 
that creates long-term sharehold-
er value by embracing opportuni-
ties, managing risks, maximising 
profits and minimising negative 
social, economic, and environ-
mental impacts. 

This approach is engendered in FIL’s 3 year 
Strategic Framework, as well as its internal 
policies. FIL has long been a proponent of 
adopting innovative measures which maxim-
ises shareholder gains – this is illustrated in 
the launch of Fiji’s first insurance mobile app. 
FijiCare is working on other digital solutions 
and CSR activities, information on which will be 
released to the market in due course.

9. Accountability and audit Internal Audit: 

To appoint an internal auditor 
or an alternative mechanism to 
achieve the objectives of risk 
management, control and gover-
nance

FIL’s Internal Audit is handled by its Internal Au-
dit Function, overseen by FIL’s Internal Auditor 
– SouthPac Advisory Limited.

External Audit: 

To appoint an external auditor 
who reports directly to the Board 
Audit Committee.

FIL is audited annually by its external auditors 
who provide their report to the shareholders 
through the Annual Report. The external audi-
tors are appointed on the recommendation of 
the Audit Committee and approval by FijiCare 
Board

Rotation of External Auditor: 

To appoint the external auditor 
for a fixed term requiring senior 
partner of the audit firm to rotate 
once in every three or less finan-
cial years.

The Audit Committee is tasked with this role 
under the Audit  Committee Charter. It ensures 
the compliance with these requirements. 

Audit Committee: 

To establish an Audit Committee 
comprising of at least 3 members 
of which majority are indepen-
dent and Chair is not Chair of the 
Board.

Currently in place and in compliance.
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Annual Compliance Report on Corporate Governance in Accordance with RBF PSPS No.1 and SPX 
Listing Rules [cont’d]

Principle Requirement Compliance Status

10. Risk Management Risk Management Policy: 

To establish a Risk Management 
Policy to address risk oversight, 
risk management and internal 
control. The Policy to clearly de-
fine the roles and responsibilities 
of the Board, Audit Committee, 
Management and Internal Audit 
function.

There is a Risk Management Framework 
and Risk Policy in place which demarcates 
the separate but intertwined roles the Board, 
Governance & Risk Management Committee, 
Management and Internal Audit play in the risk 
management of FIL. At the managerial level, 
the Internal Risk Management Committee 
reports to the Governance & Risk Management 
Committee, which in turn reports to the Board.  

Whistle Blower Policy: 

As part of risk management strat-
egy, establish a Whistle Blower 
Policy by creating a mechanism 
of reporting concerns of unethi-
cal behavior, actual or suspected 
fraud or violation of the listed 
entity’s code of conduct or ethics 
policy, SPX Rules or Companies 
Act. [Refer Rule 68 of the Listing 
Rules]

Whistle Blower policy currently in place. 
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Leading Edge Digital 
Platforms

For more information visit
www.fijicare.com.fj



Corporate Social
Responsibility



Disaster Relief
In time, FijiCare has demonstrated its financial and moral support to the victims of different catastrophes.
 
Human Resource Activities
FijiCare values its employees, and is committed to affording all its employees and partners every opportunity to suc-
ceed both within the organization, as well as in their private lives.
 
Investment Initiatives
FijiCare focuses on investing in, and developing business relations with partners whose activities are of the highest 
quality standards, companies that operate in developing areas that have a major impact on durable development (for 
example, information technology), in the environmental, and unconventional energy areas, etc.

Community Activities
FijiCare has built a tradition of rewarding the communities where it operates, either by giving donations, raising funds, 
or volunteer activities, or by different other methods.
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New Years
Jan 2020

KIC Partnership
March 2020

Digital Solutions Discussion
May 2020

Staff TownHall Session
June 2020

Claims Team App Training
May 2020

USP App Training 
July 2020
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USP App Training
July 2020

Annual General Meeting
September 2020

Fiji Day Celebration
October 2020

Fiji Day Celebration
October 2020

Annual General Meeting
September 2020

Annual General Meeting
September 2020
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PinkTober
October 2020

PinkTober
October 2020

Micro Insurance Cheque Handover
October 2020

Diwali
November 2020

Cheque Handover to Micro Insurance Claimant
October 2020

Movember  
November 2020
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FijiCare Insurance Limited and Subsidiary Company Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
31 December 2020

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

In accordance with a resolution of the board of directors, the directors herewith submit the statements of financial 
position of FijiCare Insurance Limited (“the holding company”) and its subsidiary company (together “the group”) as at 
31 December 2020, the related statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in 
equity and statements of cash flows for the year ended on that date and report as follows:

Directors

The names of the directors in office at the date of this report are:

 Dumith Fernando – Chairman Jenny Seeto (appointed on 1 November 2020) 
 Peter McPherson Sylvain Flore (appointed on 1 November 2020)
 Avinesh Raju 

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the holding company during the year were that of underwriting of medical, term life, mortgage 
protection, wage care, personal accident, public liability, funeral benefits, motor vehicle and property (under micro 
insurance project) insurance risks. 

The principal activity of the subsidiary company, VanCare Insurance Limited, during the year was that of underwriting of 
motor and other general insurance risks. 

There were no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities of the group during the year.

Results

The profit after income tax of the holding company for the year was $1,012,190 (2019: $3,759,637). 

The consolidated profit after income tax was $1,597,328 (2019: $4,404,908). Total consolidated comprehensive income 
for the year was $1,681,769 (2019: $4,353,745).

Dividends

The directors declared dividends of $688,619 during the year ended 31 December 2020 out of retained earnings as at 31 
December 2019.

Basis of Accounting - Going Concern

The financial statements of the holding company and the group have been prepared on a going concern basis. The directors 
consider the application of the going concern principle to be appropriate in the preparation of these financial statements 
as they believe with the plans and strategies put in place by the holding company and the group together with the ongoing 
support of the shareholders, the holding company and the group will generate and maintain the required funding to meet its 
liabilities and commitments as and when they fall due over the next twelve months. 

Bad and Doubtful Debts

Prior to the completion of the financial statements of the holding company and the group, the directors took reasonable 
steps to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance for 
doubtful debts. In the opinion of the directors, adequate allowance has been made for doubtful debts. As at the date of 
this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances, which would render the amount written off for bad debts, or 
the allowance for doubtful debts in the holding company or the group, inadequate to any substantial extent. 
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FijiCare Insurance Limited and Subsidiary Company Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
31 December 2020

DIRECTORS’ REPORT [CONT’D]

Current and Non-Current Assets

Prior to the completion of the financial statements of the holding company and the group, the directors took reasonable 
steps to ascertain whether any current and non-current assets were unlikely to realise in the ordinary course of busi-
ness their values as shown in the accounting records of the holding company and of the group. Where necessary, these 
assets have been written down or adequate allowance has been made to bring the values of such assets to an amount 
that they might be expected to realise.

As at the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances, which would render the values attributed 
to current and non-current assets in the financial statements of the holding company and the group misleading.

Unusual Transactions

In the opinion of the directors, other than as detailed in the following paragraph, the results of the operations of the 
holding company and the group during the financial year were not substantially affected by any item, transaction or 
event of an abnormal character, nor has there arisen between the end of the financial year and the date of this report 
any item, transaction or event of an abnormal character likely, in the opinion of the directors, to affect substantially the 
results of the operations of the holding company and the group in the current financial year.

Significant Event during the Year

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and the measures adopted by governments in countries worldwide to mitigate 
the pandemic’s spread have significantly impacted companies across the globe. Since its declaration as a pandemic 
in March 2020, COVID-19 has had an impact on the operations and financial performance of the FijiCare Group. 
Unprecedented travel bans imposed as a response to minimising the spread of COVID-19 have increased the overall 
cost of medical claims. The Group remains in a sound financial position with a strong balance sheet and solid liquidity 
position. The Directors are satisfied that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence and as 
such has adopted the going concern basis in preparing and presenting these financial statements.

Events Subsequent to Balance Date

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which would require adjustments to, or 
disclosure in the financial statements.

Other Circumstances

As at the date of this report:

i. no charge on the assets of any company in the group has been given since the end of the financial year to secure  
     the liabilities of any other person;
ii. no contingent liabilities have arisen since the end of the financial year for which any company in the group could  
        become liable; and
iii. no contingent liabilities or other liabilities of the holding company and the group have become or are likely to  
 become enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of  
 the directors, will or may substantially affect the ability of the group to meet its obligations as and when they fall  
 due.

ANNUAL REPORT - 2021

FIJICARE INSURANCE LIMITED 

Page  |  35



FijiCare Insurance Limited Page  |  41

Annual Report 2020   |   

FijiCare Insurance Limited and Subsidiary Company Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
31 December 2020

DIRECTORS’ REPORT [CONT’D]

Other Circumstances (Cont’d)

As at the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances that have arisen, not otherwise dealt with 
in this report which would make adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the holding 
company and the group misleading or inappropriate.

Directors’ Benefits

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than 
those disclosed in the financial statements of the holding company and the group) by reason of a contract made by any 
company in the group or by a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he/she is a member, or with a 
company in which he/she has a substantial financial interest.

For and on behalf of the board and in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors.

Dated this 30th day of March 2021.

____________________________________      ____________________________________
                        Director          Director
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FijiCare Insurance Limited and Subsidiary Company Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
31 December 2020

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

The declaration by directors is required by the Companies Act, 2015.

The directors of the company have made a resolution that declares:

a. In the opinion of the directors, the financial statements of the holding company and the group for the financial  
 year ended 31 December 2020:

 i. comply with International Financial Reporting Standards and give a true and fair view of the financial  
  position of the holding company and the group as at 31 December 2020 and of the performance and  
  cash flows of the holding company and the group for the year ended 31 December 2020; and

 ii.  have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act, 2015;

b.  The directors have received an independence declaration by the auditors as required by Section 395 of the   
 Companies Act, 2015; and

c.  At the date of this declaration, in the opinion of the directors, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the  
 holding company and the group will be able to pay their debts as and when they become due and payable.

For and on behalf of the board and in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors. 

Dated this 30th day of March 2021.

____________________________________      ____________________________________
                        Director          Director
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of FijiCare Insurance Limited Report on The Audit of The Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of FijiCare Insurance Limited (“the holding company”) and the consolidated 
financial statements of FijiCare Insurance Limited and its subsidiary company (“the group”) which comprise the 
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the holding 
company and of the group as at 31 December 2020, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis For Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA).  Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of 
our report.  We are independent of the holding company and of the group in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountant’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Fiji and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code.  We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the matter

1. Measurement of outstanding claims liabilities and 
related assets arising from reinsurance contracts 
and other recoveries (Consolidated - $7,594,330 and 
holding company - $5,978,275)

Refer to Note 3(j) (iv), and Note 16 to the financial 
statements

The estimation of outstanding claims liabilities and 
related assets, including reinsurance assets, is a key 
audit matter owing to higher degree of uncertainty that 
is inherent in estimating the expected future payments 
for claims incurred. 

Our audit procedures included, amongst others:

• The evaluation and testing of key controls around the 
claims handling process of the group. We examined 
evidence of the operation of controls over estimating 
of individual claims.

• For a sample of major outstanding claims, performed 
basis and calculations for estimation of claims liabilities 
to assess the reasonableness of management’s 
outstanding claims liability calculations.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT [CONT’D]

To the Shareholders of FijiCare Insurance Limited (Cont’d)

Key Audit Matters (Cont’d)

Other Information

The management and directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information that we received 
comprise of the information included in the directors report and the Annual Report of the group for the year ended 31 
December 2020 but does not include the financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon. The Annual Report is 
expected to be made available to us after the date of the auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified 
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained during the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  If, based upon the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Management and Those Charge of Governance for the Financial Statements

The management and directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in accordance with IFRS and the Companies Act 2015, and for such internal control as the management and directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the management and directors are responsible for assessing the group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the management and directors either intend to liquidate the company in the group or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the group’s financial reporting process.

Key audit matters (Cont’d) How our audit addressed the matter (Cont’d) 

In particular, judgement arises over the estimation of payments 
for claims that have been incurred at the reporting date but have 
not yet been reported to the group (IBNR). There is generally 
less information available in relation to these claims. Classes 
of business where there is a greater length of time between the 
initial claim event and settlement also tend to display greater 
variability between initial estimates and final settlement.

The valuation of outstanding claims relies on the quality of the 
underlying data. It involves complex and subjective judgements 
about future events, both internal and external to the business, 
for which changes in assumptions can result in material 
impacts to the estimates.

The valuation of reinsurance assets requires a significant level 
of judgement, given its inherent dependence on underlying 
estimates of gross outstanding claims. 

	x Evaluating the effectiveness and implementation of key 
actuarial controls, including integrity of the key data used, 
estimates and assumptions made by actuary including 
claims ratios and expected frequency of claims and 
management’s review of the estimates.

	x Evaluating whether the group’s actuarial methodologies 
were reasonable and consistent with prior periods.

	x Obtaining audit evidence over the data and process 
for estimating reinsurance recoveries on outstanding 
claims and evaluated the reasonability of estimates and 
calculations.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT [CONT’D]

To the Shareholders of FijiCare Insurance Limited (Cont’d)

.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reason-
able assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISA will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud and error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and ap-
propriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepre-
sentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appro-
priate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s 
internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s and directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures, are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the group 
to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the holding company and group’s financial information to 
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical require-
ments regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT [CONT’D]

To the Shareholders of FijiCare Insurance Limited (Cont’d)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d)

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter 
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2015 in all material respects, and;

a)  we have been given all information, explanations and assistance necessary for the conduct of the audit; and

b)  the holding company and the group have kept financial records sufficient to enable the financial statements to  
 be prepared and audited.

BDO
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

Wathsala Suraweera 
Partner
Suva, Fiji
30th March 2021
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FijiCare Insurance Limited and Subsidiary Company Statements of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended 31 December 2020FIJICARE INSURANCE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANY                                                  Page 11 

 
 

 
 

                                                Notes Consolidated  Holding Company 
   2020 2019  2020 2019 
   $ $  $ $ 
        

Revenue 5  33,033,636 31,830,583  30,368,622 28,774,411 

        

Incurred claims   (25,230,645) (22,622,688)  (24,553,912) (21,679,564) 

Commission expense 6  (3,392,701) (3,047,839)  (3,051,759) (2,677,711) 

        

Net revenue   4,410,290 6,160,056  2,762,951 4,417,136 

        

Other revenue 7  931,854 2,495,396  1,486,221 2,991,517 

        

   5,342,144 8,655,452  4,249,172 7,408,653 

        

Advertising and promotion 

Expenses 

  (236,057) (90,900)  (206,426) (51,159) 

Other operating expenses   (3,485,964) (3,937,732)  (3,007,761) (3,375,945) 

        

   (3,722,021) (4,028,632)  (3,214,187) (3,427,104) 

        

Profit before income tax 20  1,620,123 4,626,820  1,034,985 3,981,549 
        

Income tax expense 8(a)  (22,795) (221,912)  (22,795) (221,912) 

        

Profit for the year   1,597,328 4,404,908  1,012,190 3,759,637 
        
Other comprehensive income:        

        

Items that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss: 

       

        

Exchange difference on translating 

foreign operation 

 

 

 

84,441 (51,163) 

 

- - 

        

Total comprehensive income for the 

year 

  

1,681,769 4,353,745 

 

1,012,190 3,759,637 
        

Earnings per share  
 

       

Basic and diluted earnings per share 

–  cents 

22   
18.56 

 
51.55 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

       

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
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FijiCare Insurance Limited and Subsidiary Company Statement of Changes in Equity [CONT’D] for the 
Year Ended 31 December  2020

   

.
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 Holding Company 
 Share 

Capital 
Accumulated 

Profits 
Total 

 $ $ $ 
    
Balance as at 1 January 2019 4,826,213 5,762,068 10,588,281 
    
Total comprehensive income    
Profit for the year  
 
Other comprehensive income for the year 

- 
 

- 

3,759,637 
 

- 

3,759,637 
 

- 
    
Total comprehensive income - 3,759,637 3,759,637 
    
Transactions with owners of the company    
Additional shares issued (Note 18 (a)) 217,449 - 217,449 
    
Dividends declared (Note 19) - (678,736) (678,736) 
    
Total transactions with owners of the company 217,449 (678,736) (461,287) 
    
Balance as at 31 December 2019 5,043,662 8,842,969 13,886,631 
    
Total comprehensive income    
Profit for the year 
 
Other comprehensive income for the year  

- 
 

- 

1,012,190 
 

- 

1,012,190 
 

- 
    
Total comprehensive income - 1,012,190 1,012,190 
    
Transactions with owners of the company    
Dividends declared (Note 19) - (688,619) (688,619) 
    
Total transactions with owners of the company - (688,619) (688,619) 
    
Balance as at 31 December 2020 5,043,662 9,166,540 14,210,202 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement of changes in equity. 
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 Notes Consolidated  Holding Company 
  2020  2019  2020  2019 
  $  $  $  $ 
CURRENT ASSETS         
Cash on hand and at bank   5,917,289  5,762,556  1,103,972  2,325,970 
Trade and other receivables 9 9,996,314  11,269,275  10,012,415  11,711,888 
Held-to-maturity investments 10(a) 13,606,617  12,544,740  12,859,942  11,358,866 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss 

 
10(b) 4,059,011  3,813,978  4,059,011  3,813,978 

Deferred costs 11 1,190,378  1,182,106  1,082,666  1,073,696 
Current tax asset 8(b) 221,701  8,743  221,701  8,743 
         
Total current assets  34,991,310  34,581,398  29,339,707  30,293,141 
         
NON-CURRENT ASSETS         
Trade and other receivables 9 155,727  213,607  155,727  213,607 
Held-to-maturity investments 10(a) 200,000  398,344  200,000  200,000 
Investment in subsidiaries 10(d) -  -  609,921  609,921 
Investment properties 12 2,570,000  2,570,000  2,570,000  2,570,000 
Property, plant and equipment 13 392,854  454,320  344,040  389,568 
Intangible assets 14 346,494  259,428  312,526  209,545 
Right-of-use assets 23(a) 195,282  347,911  195,282  347,911 
Deferred tax assets 8(c) 19,841  24,505  19,841  24,505 
         
Total non-current assets  3,880,198  4,268,115  4,407,337  4,565,057 
         
TOTAL ASSETS  38,871,508  38,849,513  33,747,044  34,858,198 
         
CURRENT LIABILITIES         
Trade and other payables  15 1,393,404  1,834,204  1,154,679  1,549,833 
Insurance contract liabilities 16 20,612,321  20,944,594  17,908,244  18,732,001 
Employee entitlements 17 166,118  220,530  117,008  189,152 
Lease liabilities 23(b) 155,400  151,177  155,400  151,177 
         
Total current liabilities  22,327,243  23,150,505  19,335,331  20,622,163 
         
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES         
Lease liabilities 23(b) 55,791  207,335  55,791  207,335 
Deferred tax liabilities 8(d) 145,720  142,069  145,720  142,069 
         
Total non-current liabilities  201,511  349,404  201,511  349,404 
         
TOTAL LIABILITIES  22,528,754  23,499,909  19,536,842  20,971,567 
         
NET ASSETS  16,342,754  15,349,604  14,210,202  13,886,631 
         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Annual Report 2020   |   
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements of financial position.

For and on behalf of the board and in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

____________________________________      ____________________________________
                        Director          Director
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION [CONT’D] 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
 
 Notes Consolidated  Holding Company 

  2020  2019  2020  2019 

  $  $  $  $ 

         
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY         
Share capital 18  5,043,662   5,043,662   5,043,662   5,043,662  
Foreign currency translation reserve   38,515                            (45,926)               -     - 
Accumulated profits   11,260,577  10,351,868   9,166,540  8,842,969  
         
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 16,342,754  15,349,604  14,210,202   13,886,631 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements of financial position. 
 
For and on behalf of the board and in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 
 
 
 
 
 
............................  ............................ 
Director Director 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements of cash flows.
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 

 Consolidated  Holding Company 
 Inflows/ 

(Outflows) 
2020 

Inflows/ 
(Outflows) 

2019 

 Inflows/ 
(Outflows) 

2020 

Inflows/ 
(Outflows) 

2019 
 $ $  $ $ 

      
Cash flows from operating activities      
      
Premium and fees received 33,417,112 32,271,055  30,834,052 29,076,592 
Reinsurance premium paid, net (373,440) (431,510)  (373,440) (431,510) 
Claims and commission paid, net (27,194,584) (24,413,368)  (26,656,137) (23,310,475) 
Payments to suppliers and employees (4,071,721) (3,878,805)  (3,546,201) (3,175,140) 
      
Cash generated from operations 1,777,367 3,547,372  258,274 2,159,467 
Income tax paid (165,529) (309,056)  (165,529) (309,056) 
Tax deducted at source - resident interest 
withholding tax (61,909) (34,297)  (61,909) (34,297) 
Interest paid on lease liabilities (15,765) (23,837)  (15,765) (23,837) 
Interest received 671,200 479,434  618,006 415,121 
      
Net cash provided by operating activities  2,205,364 3,659,616  633,077 2,207,398 
      
Cash flows from investing activities      
      
Payments for property, plant and equipment  (131,889) (186,306)  (131,889) (168,963) 
Payments for intangible assets (228,440) (225,182)  (213,863) (184,919) 
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 27,000 46,293  27,000 46,293 
Payments for held-to-maturity investments (12,180,321) (12,130,577)  (12,859,942) (12,075,213) 
Proceeds from held-to-maturity investments 11,358,866 9,139,155  11,358,866 9,139,155 
Dividends received 17,495 14,607  600,585 564,596 
Payment for purchase of shares (226,119) (327,501)  (226,119) (327,501) 
Repayment by / (advances to) VanCare Insurance 
Limited, net - -  426,227 (208,535) 
Payment for lease liability (147,321) (138,068)  (147,321) (138,068) 
      
Net cash used in investing activities (1,510,729) (3,807,579)  (1,166,456) (3,353,155) 
      
Cash flows from financing activities       
      
Dividends paid  (688,619) (461,287)  (688,619) (461,287) 
      
Net cash used in financing activities (688,619) (461,287)  (688,619) (461,287) 
      
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  6,016 (609,250)  (1,221,998) (1,607,044) 
      
Effect of exchange rate movement on cash and cash 
equivalents 148,717 (79,170)  - - 
      
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
year 5,762,556 6,450,976  2,325,970 3,933,014 
      
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 
(Note 21)  5,917,289 5,762,556  1,103,972 2,325,970 
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FijiCare Insurance Limited and Subsidiary Company Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year 
Ended 31 December 2020

NOTE 1. GENERAL INFORMATION

a) Corporate Information

FijiCare Insurance Limited (the holding company) is a licensed general insurance and publicly listed company on South 
Pacific Stock Exchange, limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Fiji. 

The registered office and principal place of business of the holding company is located at Level 9, FNPF Place, 343-359 
Victoria Parade, Suva. 

b) Principal Activities

The principal activities of the holding company during the year were that of underwriting of medical, term life, mortgage 
protection, wage care, personal accident, public liability, funeral benefits, motor vehicle and property (under micro 
insurance project) insurance risks. 

The principal activity of the subsidiary company, VanCare Insurance Limited, during the year was that of underwriting of 
motor and other general insurance risks. 

There were no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities of the group during the year.

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

a) Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for investment 
properties, property, plant and equipment and financial assets at fair values / revalued amounts. Historical cost is based 
on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

In the application of International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’), management is required to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Judgments made by management in 
the application of IFRS that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of 
material adjustments in the next year are disclosed, where applicable, in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies 
the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other 
events is reported. 

The areas involving higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are critical to 
the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4. 

b) Statement of Compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) 
and with the requirements of the Companies Act, 2015.
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FijiCare Insurance Limited and Subsidiary Company Notes to the Financial Statements [CONT’D] 
for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D)

c) Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the holding company and its subsidiary 
company which are listed in Note 26. Control is achieved when the holding company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The holding company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the holding company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee 
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilat-
erally. The holding company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the holding 
company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

• the size of the holding company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of other 
vote holders;

• potential voting rights held by the holding company, other vote holders or other parties;

• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the holding company has, or does not have, the current 
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previ-
ous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the holding company obtains control over the subsidiary company and ceas-
es when the holding company loses control of the subsidiary company.

Income and expenses of the subsidiary company are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income from the date the holding company gains control until the date when the holding company ceas-
es to control subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributable to the owners of the holding com-
pany.

All inter-company balances and transactions between the holding company and its subsidiary company including any 
recognised profits or losses have been eliminated on consolidation.

d) Functional and Presentation Currency

Functional and presentation currency

The group operates in Fiji and Vanuatu; however, the financial statements are presented in Fiji dollars, which is the hold-
ing company’s functional and presentation currency.

e) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative figures have been re-grouped to conform to changes in presentation in the current period.
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FijiCare Insurance Limited and Subsidiary Company Notes to the Financial Statements  [CONT’D]  
for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D)

f) Basis of Accounting - Going Concern

The financial statements of the holding company and the group have been prepared on a going concern basis. The directors 
consider the application of the going concern principle to be appropriate in the preparation of these financial statements 
as they believe with the plans and strategies put in place by the holding company and the group together with the ongoing 
support of the shareholders, the holding company and the group will generate and maintain the required funding to meet its 
liabilities and commitments as and when they fall due over the next twelve months. 

g) Changes in Accounting Policies

A.      New standards, amendments and interpretation effective during the year

New standards and amendments impacting the group that have been adopted in the annual financial statements for 
the year ended 31 December 2020: 

i. Amendments to IFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions
 
Effective 1 January 2020, IFRS 16 was amended to provide a practical expedient for lessees accounting for rent 
concessions that arise as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and satisfy the following criteria: 

· The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially  the same as, or less 
than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change; 

· The reduction is lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and 
· There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease. 

Rent concessions that satisfy these criteria may be accounted for in accordance with the practical expedient, which 
means the lessee does not assess whether the rent concession meets the definition of a lease modification. Lessees 
apply other requirements in IFRS 16 in accounting for the concession. 

The company has elected to utilise the practical expedient for all rent concessions that meet the criteria. The practical 
expedient has been applied retrospectively, meaning it has been applied to all rent concessions that satisfy the criteria, 
which in the case of the company, occurred from March 2020 to December 2020.

Accounting for the rent concessions as lease modifications would have resulted in the company remeasuring the lease 
liability to reflect the revised consideration using a revised discount rate, with the effect of the change in the lease 
liability recorded against the right-of-use asset. By applying the practical expedient, the company is not required to 
determine a revised discount rate and the effect of the change in the lease liability is reflected in profit or loss in the 
period in which the event or condition that triggers the rent concession occurs.

ii. Other new and amended standards 

Other new and amended standards that have been adopted in the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2020, but have not had a significant effect on the company are:  

· IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors (Amendment – Disclosure Initiative - Definition of Material); and 

· Revisions to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting.
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FijiCare Insurance Limited and Subsidiary Company Notes to the Financial Statements [CONT’D] 
for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT’D)

(g) Changes in Accounting Policies (Cont’d)

B. New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective

There are a number of standards, amendments to standards, and interpretations which have been issued by the IASB 
that are effective in future accounting periods that the company has decided not to adopt early.  The following amend-
ments are effective for the period beginning 1 January 2022: 

	x Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract; 
	x Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use; 
	x Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41 Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020; and 
	x Amendments to IFRS 3 References to Conceptual Framework.
	x IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective 1 January 2023) - In June 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 17, 

including a deferral of its effective date to 1 January 2023. 

Since the company is currently assessing the impact of these new accounting standards and amendments, the impact 
has not yet been determined.

NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

a) Allowance for Doubtful Debts

The group establishes an allowance for any doubtful debts based on a review of all outstanding amounts individually at 
year end. Bad debts are written off during the period when they are identified.

The group periodically assesses whether there is any objective evidence of impairment. Trade and other receivables are 
presented net of allowances for doubtful debts. The group has individually assessed allowances against individually 
significant trade and other receivables.

b) Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in banks and 
other short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

c) Dividend Distribution

Dividend distribution to the holding company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in holding company’s and group’s 
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are declared by the company’s directors.

d) Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing profit or loss after income tax attributable to members of the 
holding company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of 
the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into 
ordinary shares.
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FijiCare Insurance Limited and Subsidiary Company Notes to the Financial Statements [CONT’D] 
for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

e) Expenditure Recognition

Expenses are recognised in the profit or loss on the basis of a direct association between the cost incurred and the earn-
ing of specific items of income. All expenditure incurred in the running of the business and in maintaining the investment 
properties and property, plant and equipment in a state of operational service has been charged to the statements of 
profit or loss.

For the purpose of presentation of the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the “function of 
expenses” method has been adopted, on the basis that it fairly presents the elements of the holding company’s and 
group’s performance.

f) Financial Assets

The group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments 
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The classification depends on the nature and purpose for which 
the financial assets were acquired and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after balance date, 
which are classified as non-current assets. The group’s loans and receivables comprise ‘trade and other receivables’ as 
disclosed in the statements of financial position (Note 9). Bad debts are written off during the period in which they are 
identified.

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables are recorded at amortised cost less impairment.

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed ma-
turity dates that the group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.

Held-to-maturity investments in commercial banks and financial institutions by the group are recorded at their amor-
tised cost and not re-measured to market values as they are considered likely to be held to maturity in line with invest-
ment objectives and fixed price nature of the investments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprises of equity investments in listed and unlisted companies. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those 
designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is 
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Financial assets designated at fair value through profit 
or loss at inception are those that are managed and their performances are evaluated on a fair value basis. Assets in 
this category are presented as current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 
months.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured initially and subsequently at fair value, and gains and 
losses arising from changes in fair value are included in the statements of profit or loss. 

Transaction costs are recognised in the statements of profit or loss. Dividend income is recognised in the statements of 
profit or loss as part of other revenue when the holding company’s right to receive payments is established.
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FijiCare Insurance Limited and Subsidiary Company Notes to the Financial Statements  [CONT’D]  
for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

g) Foreign Currency Translations

Transactions and balances

All foreign currency transactions during the financial year are brought to account using the exchange rate in effect at the 
date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items at reporting date are translated at the exchange rate existing 
at reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Exchange differences are recognised 
in the profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Foreign controlled entity

As the foreign controlled subsidiary company of the group, VanCare Insurance Limited, is a self-sustaining entity, its 
assets and liabilities are translated to Fiji dollar at the average year-end buying and selling exchange rates, while its reve-
nues and expenses are translated at the average of buying and selling rates ruling during the year. Exchange differences 
arising on translation are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve.

h) Impairment of Non-Financial assets

At each reporting date, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is 
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group estimates the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment 
annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in 
profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss 
is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-generating 
unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset 
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

i) Income Tax

Current tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulations is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected 
to be paid to the tax authorities.
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FijiCare Insurance Limited and Subsidiary Company Notes to the Financial Statements  [CONT’D] 
for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

i) Income Tax (Cont’d)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising from 
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax 
base of those items.

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are rec-
ognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which deductible tem-
porary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities 
(other than as a result of a business combination) which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the periods when the asset 
and liability giving rise to them are recognised or settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax conse-
quences that would follow from the manner in which the company expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the period

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the statements of profit or loss except when it relates 
to items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity.

Capital Gains Tax 

Capital Gains Tax (CGT) is applicable at 10% on capital gains realised on the sale or disposal of ‘capital assets’ as set out 
in the Income Tax Act. Accordingly, the group provides for deferred tax liability that may arise if capital assets stated at fair 
values are ultimately sold or traded.

j) Insurance Contracts

General

All of the general insurance products and reinsurance products on offer, or utilised, meet the definition of an insurance 
contract (a contract under which one party, the insurer, accepts significant insurance risk from another party, the poli-
cyholder, by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event, the insured event, adversely 
affects the policyholder) and none of the contracts contain embedded derivatives or are required to be unbundled. In-
surance contracts that meet the definition of a financial guarantee contract are accounted for as insurance contracts. 
This means that all of the general insurance products are accounted for in the same manner.

i) Premium income

Premium revenue comprises amounts charged to policyholders (direct premium) for insurance contracts. Premium is 
recognised as earned on a proportionate basis over the period for which cover is provided using the 365 days pro-rata 
method.

The unearned portion of premium is recognised as an unearned premium liability on the statements of financial position.
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FijiCare Insurance Limited and Subsidiary Company Notes to the Financial Statements [CONT’D] 
for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

j) Insurance Contracts (Cont’d)

ii) Reinsurance premium

Reinsurance premium is recognised as an expense on a proportionate basis over the period for which cover is provided. 
Accordingly, a portion of reinsurance premium expense is deferred and presented as deferred reinsurance expenses on 
the statements of financial position at the reporting date.

iii) Deferred commission costs

Commission cost paid to agents and brokers associated with obtaining general insurance contracts are referred to as 
acquisition cost. These costs are presented as deferred commission costs and are amortised and charged to expenses 
on the same basis as the recognition of premium income. The balance of the deferred commission costs at the report-
ing date represents the commission costs relating to unearned premium.

iv) Provision for outstanding claims

Provision for outstanding claims are stated net of amounts recoverable from reinsurers and are assessed by reviewing 
individual claims. Provision is assessed after taking into account claim information available at the time the claim is 
received or additional information brought to the notice of the holding company and the group till reporting date. Whilst 
all reasonable steps are taken to ensure that adequate information is obtained, given the uncertainty in claims provision, 
it is likely that the final outcome will differ from the original liability established.

Provision is also made for insurance claims incurred but not reported (IBNR). Provision for IBNR is also assessed by the 
management on an annual basis based on the latest available actuarial valuation report and recent claims experience 
and underwriting results. Valuation is obtained from independent licensed actuaries for the adequacy of provision for 
claims incurred but not reported on a periodic basis. Actuaries use appropriate actuarial valuation methods to value the 
liabilities to help inform the choice of the most appropriate method and to help assess the inherent estimation errors. 
Actuaries selected the method that gave the highest answer based on the holding company and the group’s own data 
and increased where the benchmark gave a higher answer and weighted the valuation towards higher side. 

Provision is also made for claim administration expenses in accordance with guidelines issued by Reserve Bank of Fiji.

Claims expenses represent claim payments adjusted for the movement in the outstanding claims liability.

k) Intangible Assets

Computer software is recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Amortisation is 
charged on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method is 
reviewed at the end of each financial year.

l) Investment Properties

Investment properties principally comprising freehold land and buildings are held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation, are measured initially at its cost including transaction costs.

Investment properties are stated in the statements of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value 
at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity 
such that the carrying amounts do not differ materially from those that would be determined using fair values at the end 
of each reporting period.
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FijiCare Insurance Limited and Subsidiary Company Notes to the Financial Statements [CONT’D] 
for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

(m) Leases 

At inception of a contract, the holding company and the group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset, the holding company and the group assesses whether:

• The contract involves the use of an identified asset – this may be specified explicitly or implicitly, and should be 
physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a 
substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified;

• The holding company and the group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of 
the asset throughout the period of use; and

• The holding company and the group has the right to direct the use of the asset. The holding company and the group 
has this right when it has the decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose 
the asset is used. In rare cases where the decision about how and for what purpose the asset is used is predeter-
mined, the holding company and the group has the right to direct the use of the asset if either:

 - The holding company and the group has the right to operate the asset; or

 - The holding company and the group designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what  
  purpose it will be used.

This policy is applied to contracts entered into, or changed, on or after 1 January 2019. At inception or on reassessment 
of a contract that contains a lease component, the holding company and the group allocates the consideration in the 
contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. However, for the leases of land and 
buildings in which it is a lessee, the holding company and the group has elected not to separate non-lease components 
and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.

Policy applicable as a lessee

The holding company and the group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement 
date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability ad-
justed for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an 
estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which 
it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the 
earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of 
right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use 
asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain re- measurements of the lease liabil-
ity.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commence-
ment date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the holding 
company and the group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the holding company and the group uses its incremen-
tal borrowing rate as the discount rate.
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NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(m) Leases (Cont’d)

Policy applicable as a lessee (Cont’d)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

• fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the com-
mencement date;

• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

• the exercise price under a purchase option that the holding company and the group is reasonably certain to exercise, 
lease payments in an optional renewal period if the holding company and the group is reasonably certain to exercise 
an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the holding company and the group is reason-
ably certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is re-measured when there is a 
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the holding company and 
the group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the holding company and 
the group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is re-measured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The holding company and the group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short- term 
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The holding company and the group 
recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Assets held under other leases were classified as operating leases and were not recognised in the holding company and 
the group’s statement of financial position. Payments made under operating leases were recognised in profit or loss on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received were recognised as an integral part of the total 
lease expense, over the term of the lease.

Policy applicable as a lessor

When the holding company and the group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance 
lease or an operating lease.

To classify each lease, the holding company and the group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers 
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease 
is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the holding company and the group con-
siders certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

When the holding company and the group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the 
sub-lease separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising 
from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease is a short-term lease to which the holding 
company and the group applies the exemption described above, then it classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.
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NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(m) Leases (Cont’d)

Policy applicable as a lessee (cont’d)
 
If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, the holding company and the group applies IFRS 15 to allo-
cate the consideration in the contract.

The holding company and the group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-
line basis over the lease term as part of ‘other income’.

The accounting policies applicable to the holding company and the group as a lessor in the comparative period were not 
different from IFRS 16. However, when the holding company and the group was an intermediate lessor the sub-leases were 
classified with reference to the underlying asset.

n) Segment Reporting

Operating Segment
An operating segment is a component of the group which may earn revenues and incur expenses and the operating
results are regularly reviewed by the group’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be
allocated to the segment and assess its performance.

Geographic Segment
A geographical segment constitutes the provision of products or services within a particular economic environment that
are subject to risks and return that are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments.The
group operates in Fiji and Vanuatu.

o)  Property, Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition and installation of the items.

Freehold land and buildings are stated at fair value, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of
the asset, and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Any revaluation increase arising on
the revaluation of such property is credited as other comprehensive income in the statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and recorded as revaluation reserve in the statements of changes in equity. Decreases that
off-set previous increases of the same asset are charged against other comprehensive income and revaluation reserves 
in the equity; all other decreases are charged as expense in the statements of profit or loss. On the subsequent sale or
retirement of a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the asset revaluation reserve is
transferred to retained earnings.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is de-recognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the statements of profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including buildings but excluding freehold land. Depreciation is 
calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net cost or other revalued amount of each asset over its expected 
useful life to its estimated residual value. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method is reviewed 
at the end of each annual reporting period.
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NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

o) Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont’d)

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives using the following rates: 

Buildings 2.5%

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 10% - 40%

Motor vehicles 20%

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are taken into 
account in determining the results for the year.

p) Provision for Employee Entitlements

Wages and salaries

Liabilities for wages and salaries expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are accrued up to the 
reporting date.

Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present 
value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. 
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on government bonds with 
terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Annual leave 

The liability for annual leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. Liabilities for annual leave are expected 
to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date and are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration 
rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

Bonus Plans

The group pays bonuses to employees based on performance of the group and achievement of individual objectives 
by the employees. The group accrues bonuses where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice, subject to 
performance evaluation. 

Defined contribution plans

Contributions to Fiji National Provident Fund are expensed when incurred.

q) Reinsurance Contracts

The holding company and the group cedes insurance risk in the normal course of business for most categories of its 
insurance policies. Recoverable amounts are estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding claims provision 
and/or reinsurance contract terms.

Ceded reinsurance arrangements do not relieve the holding company and the group from its obligation to policyholders.
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NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D) 

r) Finance Income and Finance Costs

The holding company and group’s finance income and finance costs include:

• interest income on advances;

• bank and loan administration charges;

• impairment losses (and reversals) on investments in debt securities carried at amortised cost;.

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method. The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

• the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

• the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the 
asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. However, for financial assets that 
have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of 
interest income reverts to the gross basis.

s) Fair Value Measurement

‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction be-
tween market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market 
to which the holding company and the group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-perfor-
mance risk.

When one is available, the holding company and the group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted 
price in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take 
place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the holding company and the group uses valuation techniques that 
maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation 
technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the holding company and the group 
measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction price – i.e. 
the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the holding company and the group determines that the fair value 
on initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an 
active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are 
judged to be insignificant in relation to the measurement, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, 
adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that 
difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when 
the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.
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NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

t) Revenue Recognition

The holding company and the group receives premium income from policyholders as compensation for underwriting 
insurance risks. The holding company and the group recognises revenue at an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for underwriting those insurance risks, using a five-step model for each 
revenue stream as prescribed in IFRS 15. The five-step model is as follows:

-Identification of the contract;
-Identification of separate performance obligations for each good or service;
-Determination of the transaction price;
-Allocation of the price to performance obligations; and
-Recognition of revenue.

Revenue recognition with respect to the holding company and the group’s specific business activities are as follows:

i. Premium revenue comprises amounts charged to policyholders (direct premium) for insurance contracts. Premium 
is recognised as earned on a proportionate basis over the period for which cover is provided using the 365 days 
pro-rata method. The unearned portion of premium is recognised as an unearned premium liability on the state-
ments of financial position.

ii. Dividend income from investments is recognised when the right to receive dividend is established.
iii. Revenue from rendering of management services are recognised upon rendering of services.
iv. Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis. Rental income represents income earned from renting out of build-

ing space and is stated net of Value Added Tax.
v. Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

u) Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

v) Trade Receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less allowance for doubtful debts. An allowance for doubtful debts of trade receivables is established 
when there is objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms 
of the receivables.

Allowance is made on a specific debtor level. Significant financial difficulties of the debtors and default or delinquency in 
payments are considered indicators that a specific debtor balance is assessed to be doubtful. Doubtful debts assessed 
at a collective level is based on past experience and data in relation to actual write-offs.

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in the statements of profit or loss and other com-
prehensive income.

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial re- organisa-
tion, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that a specific debtor balance is assessed to be 
doubtful. 
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NOTE 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

v) Trade Receivables (Cont’d)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is 
recognised in the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income within administration and operating 
expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in the statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

w) Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables are recognised when the group becomes obliged to make future payments resulting
from the purchase of goods and services.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

x) Value Added Tax (VAT)

Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognised net of the amount of Value Added Tax (VAT), except:

i. Where the amount of VAT incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost 
of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of expense; and

ii. For trade receivables and trade payables which are recognised inclusive of VAT.

The amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables.

The VAT component of cash flows arising from operating and investing activities which is recoverable from or payable 
to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

NOTE 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

In application of the group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the directors and the management are 
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting esti-
mates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period 
of revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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NOTE 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (CONT’D)

The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year and in future are have 
been disclosed under the following notes to the financial statements: 

Note 3(j)(iv) - Provision for outstanding claims

Note 3 (j)(iv) - Actuarial valuation – claims incurred but not reported

Note 3(o) - Fair value measurement

Note 3(v) - Impairment of accounts receivable

Note 3(h) - Impairment of property, plant and equipment and investment properties
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NOTE 5. REVENUE Consolidated  Holding Company 

 2020 2019  2020 2019 
 $ $  $ $ 

      
Gross written premium  31,788,799  33,786,946    28,753,947  30,777,808  
Reinsurance premium  (563,621) (764,035)   (167,587) (394,513) 
      
  31,225,178  33,022,911    28,586,360  30,383,295  
      
Unearned premium, net movement  1,808,458  (1,192,328)   1,782,262  (1,608,884) 
      
Total revenue, net  33,033,636  31,830,583    30,368,622  28,774,411 
      
      
NOTE 6. COMMISSION EXPENSE    

      
Commission expense 3,392,701 3,047,839   3,051,759  2,677,711  
      
      
NOTE 7.  OTHER REVENUE      

       
Dividend income  42,554  64,596    600,585  564,596  
Gain on sale of motor vehicle  15,977  35,612    15,977  25,787  
Interest income  575,405  647,081    522,211  562,788  
Management fees  -    -   85,800  87,800 
Rental income  76,149  89,790    76,149  89,790  
Fair value gain on equity investments, net  18,914  1,303,302    18,914  1,303,302  
Grant income (a)  150,000  326,564    150,000   326,564  
Miscellaneous income, net  52,855  28,451    16,585  30,890  
       
Total other revenue, net  931,854  2,495,396    1,486,221  2,991,517  
 
(a)  The holding company entered into a grant agreement with United Nations Capital Development Fund for receipt 

of grant relating to Micro Insurance Project. The Micro Insurance Project intends to provide applicable citizens 
with term life and non-life insurance covers. The holding company upgraded its Software, IT Infrastructure and 
provided awareness to the people of Fiji about insurance and its benefit.  

 
 
NOTE 8. INCOME TAX 
 
Income Tax Rate 
 
Income tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2020 has been computed using tax rate of 10% for the holding 
company and 0% for the subsidiary company, VanCare Insurance Limited. Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been 
computed using tax rate of 10% for the holding company. 
 
a)   Income tax expense       
      
The prima facie income tax payable on profit is 
reconciled to the income tax expense as follows:      
Profit before income tax  1,620,123 4,626,820  1,034,985 3,981,549  
      
Prima facie income tax expense  103,499 398,155   103,499 398,155  
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 Consolidated  Holding Company 

2020 2019  2020 2019 
$ $  $ $ 

      
a) Income tax expense (Cont’d)      
      
Tax effect of:      
      
Non-taxable income (61,950) (186,790)  (61,950) (186,790) 
Non-deductible expenses and concessions (13,173) 13,224  (13,173) 13,224 
Over provision of income tax in prior year (5,581) (2,677)  (5,581) (2,677) 
      
Income tax expense  22,795      221,912   22,795      221,912  
      
Income tax expense comprises movement in:      
      
Current tax liabilities 14,480 231,058   14,480 231,058  
Deferred tax assets  4,664 (4,579)  4,664 (4,579) 
Deferred tax liability 3,651      (4,567)  3,651      (4,567) 
      
 22,795 221,912   22,795 221,912  
      
b) Current tax assets       
      
Movements during the year were as follows:      
      
Balance at the beginning of the year 8,743 (110,538)  8,743 (110,538) 
Tax liability for the current year (14,480) (231,058)  (14,480) (231,058) 
Advance taxes paid during the year 165,529 309,056  165,529 309,056 
Transfer from VAT Account - 6,986  - 6,986 
Tax deducted at source – resident interest withholding 
tax 61,909 34,297 

 
61,909 34,297 

      
Balance at the end of the year 221,701 8,743  221,701 8,743 
      
c) Deferred tax assets      
      
Deferred tax assets comprise the estimated future 

benefit at future income tax rate in respect to the 
following: 

     

      
Difference between Right of Use Asset and Lease 
Liabilities 531 1,060   531 1,060  
Allowance for doubtful debts 5,000 5,000  5,000 5,000 
Provision for employee entitlements 14,310 18,445   14,310 18,445  
      
Total deferred tax assets 19,841 24,505   19,841 24,505  
      
d) Deferred tax liabilities      
      
Deferred tax liabilities comprise the estimated future 

expense at future income tax and capital gains tax 
rate in respect to the following: 
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Difference in cost base of investment properties and 
plant and equipment for accounting and income tax 
purposes 139,211       135,560  

 

139,211       135,560  
Unrealized gain on investment in unlisted shares 6,509 6,509  6,509 6,509 
      
Total deferred tax liabilities 145,720 142,069  145,720 142,069 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT'D] 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
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NOTE 9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 

a. Trade receivables principally comprise of premium amounts outstanding from policyholders. Trade receivables are 
non-interest bearing and generally settled on 30 – 60 days term.

b. Receivable from VanCare Insurance Limited is in relation to reimbursement of expenses paid on behalf of VanCare 
Insurance Limited, management fees, interest and reinsurance premium income. Balance is subject to interest and 
repayable on demand.

c. Receivable from director related entity, Premium Holdings Pte Limited, relates to rent and management fees for the 
months of July to December 2019 and other balances.

d. Other advances are secured and subject to interest and principal amount is repayable by 2022.
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  Consolidated  Holding Company 

 2020 2019  2020 2019 
 $ $  $ $ 
      

Current      
      

Trade receivables (a) 8,473,685 10,152,647  8,478,623 10,152,213 
Less: allowance for doubtful debts (50,000) (50,000)  (50,000) (50,000) 
      
 8,423,685 10,102,647  8,428,623 10,102,213 
      
Receivable from VanCare Insurance Limited (b)  - -  47,145 473,372 
Receivable from Premium Holdings Pte Limited (c) - 78,080  - 78,080 
Other advances (d) 42,922 35,060  42,922 35,060 
Prepayments  326,742 120,956  319,641 118,933 
Deposits 303,286 38,100  296,821 31,870 
Other receivables   899,679 894,432  877,263 872,360 
      
Total current trade and other receivables, net 9,996,314 11,269,275  10,012,415 11,711,888 
      
Non-current      
      
Other advances (d) 115,623 189,014  115,623 189,014 
Other receivables 40,104 24,593  40,104 24,593 
      
Total non-current trade and other receivables 155,727 213,607  155,727 213,607 
 
(a) Trade receivables principally comprise of premium amounts outstanding from policyholders. Trade receivables 

are non-interest bearing and generally settled on 30 – 60 days term. 
 

(b) Receivable from VanCare Insurance Limited is in relation to reimbursement of expenses paid on behalf of 
VanCare Insurance Limited, management fees, interest and reinsurance premium income. Balance is subject to 
interest and repayable on demand.  
 

(c) Receivable from director related entity, Premium Holdings Pte Limited, relates to rent, management fees and 
other balances which has been fully paid during the year. 
 

(d) Other advances are secured and subject to interest and principal amount is repayable by 2022. 
 
NOTE 10. FINANCIAL ASSETS    

      
(a)     Held-to-maturity investments      
      
Current      
      
Term investments with commercial banks and 

financial institutions  13,606,617  12,544,740  
 

 12,859,942  11,358,866  
      
Non-current      
      
Term investments with commercial banks and 
 financial institutions 200,000  398,344  

 
200,000 200,000 

      
 
 
 Consolidated  Holding Company 
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NOTE 10. FINANCIAL ASSETS    

      
(a)     Held-to-maturity investments      
      
Current      
      
Term investments with commercial banks and 

financial institutions  13,606,617  12,544,740  
 

 12,859,942  11,358,866  
      
Non-current      
      
Term investments with commercial banks and 
 financial institutions 200,000  398,344  

 
200,000 200,000 

      
 
 
 Consolidated  Holding Company 

 2020 2019  2020 2019 
(b)     Financial assets at fair value through  
         profit or loss 

$ $  $ $ 

      
Equity Investments       
      
Investments in listed companies   3,969,310  3,724,277    3,969,310  3,724,277  
Investments in Fiji Gas Limited   89,701  89,701    89,701  89,701  
      
  4,059,011  3,813,978    4,059,011  3,813,978  

 
(c)     Valuation of Financial Assets 
 
The holding company measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance 
of the inputs used in making the measurements: 
 
Level 1: fair value on investment in listed companies is calculated using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets.  

 
Level 2: fair value on investment in Fiji Gas Limited and held-to-maturity investments are calculated using inputs 
other than quoted market prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either directly (as 
prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).  

 
Reconciliation of financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss      
      
Balance at 1 January 3,813,978 2,183,175    3,813,978  2,183,175  
Add: Fair value gain on investment in listed / 
unlisted companies, net 18,914 1,303,302    18,914  1,303,302  
Add: Purchase of financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 226,119 327,501    226,119  327,501  
      
Balance at 31 December 4,059,011 3,813,978    4,059,011  3,813,978  
      
(d) Investment in subsidiary company 
 (Note 26)  

 
    

Investment in VanCare Insurance Limited - -  609,921  609,921  
      
 - -  609,921 609,921 
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Reconciliation of financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss      
      
Balance at 1 January 3,813,978 2,183,175  3,813,978 2,183,175 
Add: Fair value gain on investment in listed / unlisted 
companies, net 18,914 1,303,302  18,914 1,303,302 
Add: Purchase of financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss 226,119 327,501  226,119 327,501 
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Investment in VanCare Insurance Limited - -  609,921 609,921 
      
 - -  609,921 609,921 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      
      
NOTE 11. DEFERRED COSTS     

      
Deferred commission expenses      
      
Total deferred costs  1,190,378 1,182,106   1,082,666 1,073,696  
      
  
 
 
NOTE 12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

 
 Freehold Land Building Total 
 ($) ($) ($) 

    
Balance at 31 December 2019 and 2020 845,000 1,725,000 2,570,000 

    
 
In December 2017, land and buildings were revalued by the directors based on independent valuation by registered 
valuer. The valuation methodology adopted by the valuer were Market Value Method.  
 
The investment properties were valued at $2,570,000. The group uses valuation techniques that include valuation 
assessment and estimates based on observable and non-observable market data and observable internal financial 
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NOTE 12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

 
 Freehold Land Building Total 
 ($) ($) ($) 

    
Balance at 31 December 2019 and 2020 845,000 1,725,000 2,570,000 

    
 
In December 2017, land and buildings were revalued by the directors based on independent valuation by registered 
valuer. The valuation methodology adopted by the valuer were Market Value Method.  
 
The investment properties were valued at $2,570,000. The group uses valuation techniques that include valuation 
assessment and estimates based on observable and non-observable market data and observable internal financial 
data to estimate the fair value of investment properties. The directors believe that that chosen valuation techniques 
and assumption used were appropriate in determining the fair value of investment properties. The directors believe 
that the fair value of investment properties have not significantly increased from fair values as at 31 December 2017 
and the company would be carrying out independent valuation of investment properties in 2021.  
 
 
NOTE 13.         PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  
 

 Consolidated 
 Leasehold 

improvement 
Furniture, 

fittings and 
office 

equipment 

Motor  
vehicles 

Work in 
progress 

Total 

 ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) 
      
Gross carrying amount      
Balance at 1 January 2019 - 750,829    324,999    20,989 1,096,817 
Additions - 189,942  -    - 189,942  
Transfer   20,989  - - (20,989) - 
Disposals - -   (33,826)  - (33,826) 
 
Balance at 31 December 2019 20,989  940,771  291,173  -    1,252,933  
Additions 55,009 74,653 -    - 129,662 
Disposals - - (73,938)  - (73,938) 
 
Balance at 31 December 2020 75,998 1,015,424 217,235 

                             
-    1,308,657 

      
Accumulated depreciation       
 
Balance at 1 January 2019 - 481,890 161,272 - 643,162 
Depreciation expense 525  129,550     43,682  -    173,757 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D] 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
 
NOTE 12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

 

 Freehold Land Building Total 
 ($) ($) ($) 

    

Balance at 31 December 2019 and 2020 845,000 1,725,000 2,570,000 
    

 

In December 2017, land and buildings were revalued by the directors based on independent valuation by 
registered valuer. The valuation methodology adopted by the valuer were Market Value Method.  
 

The investment properties were valued at $2,570,000. The group uses valuation techniques that include 
valuation assessment and estimates based on observable and non-observable market data and observable 
internal financial data to estimate the fair value of investment properties. The directors believe that that 
chosen valuation techniques and assumption used were appropriate in determining the fair value of 
investment properties. The directors believe that the fair value of investment properties have not 
significantly increased from fair values as at 31 December 2017 and the company would be carrying out 
independent valuation of investment properties in 2021.  
 
 
NOTE 13.         PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  
 

 Consolidated 
 Leasehold 

improvement 
Furniture, 

fittings and 
office 

equipment 

Motor  
vehicles 

Work in 
progress 

Total 

 ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) 
      
Gross carrying amount      
Balance at 1 January 2019 - 750,829    324,999    20,989 1,096,817 
Additions - 189,942  -    - 189,942  
Transfer   20,989  - - (20,989) - 
Disposals - -   (33,826)  - (33,826) 
 
Balance at 31 December 2019 20,989  940,771  291,173  -    1,252,933  
Additions 55,009 74,653 -    - 129,662 
Disposals - - (73,938)  - (73,938) 
 
Balance at 31 December 2020 75,998 1,015,424 217,235 

                             
-    1,308,657 

      
Accumulated depreciation       
 
Balance at 1 January 2019 - 481,890 161,272 - 643,162 
Depreciation expense 525  129,550     43,682  -    173,757 
Disposals  - -  (18,306) -    (18,306) 
 
Balance at 31 December 2019 

                           
525  

                     
611,440 

                     
186,648  

                             
-    

                     
798,613  

Depreciation expense 613 154,788 23,876 -    179,277 
Disposals - -  (62,087) -    (62,087) 
 
Balance at 31 December 2020 1,138 766,228 148,437 

                             
-    

                     
915,803  

      
Net book value      
As at 31 December 2019 20,464 329,331  104,525  -    454,320  
      
As at 31 December 2020 74,860 249,196 68,798 -    392,854 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D] 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
 
NOTE 13.         PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D) 
 

  Holding Company 
 Leasehold 

improvement 
Furniture, 

fittings and 
office 

equipment 

Motor  
vehicles 

Work in 
progress 

Total 

 ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) 
      
Gross carrying amount      
Balance at 1 January 2019  - 720,818 267,266 20,989 1,009,073 
Additions - 168,963 - - 168,963 
Transfer 20,989 - - (20,989) - 
Disposal - - (19,500) - (19,500) 
Balance at 31 December 2019 20,989 889,781 247,766 - 1,158,536 
Additions 55,009 74,653 - - 129,662 
Disposal - - (73,938) - (73,938) 
Balance at 31 December  

2020 75,998 964,434 173,828 - 1,214,260 
      
Accumulated depreciation       
Balance at 1 January 2019 - 467,669 149,216 - 616,885 
Depreciation expense 525 124,146 35,212 - 159,883 
Disposal - - (7,800) - (7,800) 
Balance at 31 December 2019 525 591,815 176,628 - 768,968 
Depreciation expense 613 147,260 15,466 - 163,339 
Disposal - - (62,087) - (62,087) 
Balance at 31 December 2020 1,138 739,075 130,007 - 870,220 
      
Net book value      
As at 31 December 2019       20,464         297,966        71,138  - 389,568  
      
As at 31 December 2020 74,860 225,359 43,821 - 344,040 

 
 
NOTE 14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS Consolidated  Holding Company 
  2020 2019  2020 2019 
  $ $  $ $ 
       
Computer software  1,538,904  1,304,343    1,361,888  1,148,025  
Less: accumulated amortisation (1,192,410) (1,044,915)  (1,049,362) (938,480) 
      
Total intangible assets, net  346,494  259,428    312,526  209,545  
      
      
NOTE 15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES      
      
Payable to reinsurers  313,926  519,779    313,926  519,779  
Other payables and accrued liabilities 1,079,478 1,314,425   840,753  1,030,054 

      
Total trade and other payables 1,393,404 1,834,204    1,154,679  1,549,833  
 
Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for reinsurance premium and on-going 
costs. Trade payables are non-interest bearing and generally settled on 30 - 90 days term.  
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NOTE 14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS Consolidated  Holding Company 
  2020 2019  2020 2019 
  $ $  $ $ 
       
Computer software  1,538,904  1,304,343    1,361,888  1,148,025  
Less: accumulated amortisation (1,192,410) (1,044,915)  (1,049,362) (938,480) 
      
Total intangible assets, net  346,494  259,428    312,526  209,545  
      
      

NOTE 15. TRADE AND OTHER 
PAYABLES   

 
  

      
Payable to reinsurers  313,926  519,779    313,926  519,779  
Other payables and accrued liabilities 1,079,478 1,314,425   840,753  1,030,054 

      
Total trade and other payables 1,393,404 1,834,204    1,154,679  1,549,833  
 
Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for reinsurance premium and on-going costs. Trade 
payables are non-interest bearing and generally settled on 30 - 90 days term.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT’D] 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 

 

NOTE 16. INSURANCE  CONTRACT  Consolidated  Holding Company 

 LIABILITIES 2020 2019  2020 2019 

 $ $  $ $ 
Unearned premiums      
      
Unearned premiums as at 1 January  14,525,101  13,375,542   13,512,894  11,904,011  
Movement during the year, net  (1,770,703) 1,149,559   (1,782,261) 1,608,883  
      
Balance as at 31 December  12,754,398  14,525,101   11,730,633  13,512,894  
      
Outstanding claims      
      
Gross outstanding claims as at 1 January  2,642,309  2,096,025   2,485,119  1,780,180  
Movement during the year, net  844,117  546,284      783,699  704,939  
      
Balance as at 31 December  3,486,426  2,642,309    3,268,818  2,485,119  
      
Less: Reinsurance recoveries  130,902  130,902  130,902  130,902  
      
Outstanding claims, net  3,355,524  2,511,407  3,137,916  2,354,217 
      
Claims administration provision      
      
Claims administration provision as  at 1 January  255,027  203,919    208,771  166,093  
Movement during the year, net  8,566  51,108    (9,435) 42,678  
      
Balance as at 31 December  263,593  255,027    199,336  208,771  
      
Claims incurred but not reported      
      
Claims incurred but not reported as at 1 January  3,424,042  2,474,634    2,656,119  1,994,670  
Movement during the year, net  483,849  949,408    184,240  661,449  
      
Claims incurred but not reported, net  3,907,891  3,424,042    2,840,359  2,656,119  
 
Catastrophic provision (a)  330,915  229,017   - - 
      
Total insurance contract liabilities, net 20,612,321 20,944,594   17,908,244  18,732,001  
      
(a) The subsidiary company, VanCare Insurance Limited is required to make a contingency provision referred 

to as a catastrophic provision which is 3% of total gross premiums under the Insurance Act of Vanuatu. 
 
 
NOTE 17. EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS      
 
Current 
 

     

Provision for annual leave  79,419  105,147    64,418  94,328  
Provision for severance  34,109  20,559    -    - 
Provision for long service leave  52,590  94,824    52,590  94,824  
      
Total current employee entitlements 166,118 220,530  117,008 189,152 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT'D] 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
 
NOTE 18. SHARE CAPITAL Consolidated  Holding Company 

 2020 2019  2020 2019 

 $ $  $ $ 

Issued and paid up capital      
Balance as at 1 January 2020: 8,607,742 ordinary 

shares (2019: 8,484,194 ordinary shares)  5,043,662  4,826,213    5,043,662  4,826,213  
Additional ordinary shares issued (a) - 217,449    -    217,449  
Balance as at 31 December 2020: 8,607,742      
  ordinary shares  5,043,662  5,043,662    5,043,662  5,043,662  

      
(a) It was resolved that no dividend reinvestment option will be made available after consideration of the 

company’s financial position. In prior year, 123,548 additional ordinary shares at $1.76 per share were 
issued by way of dividend reinvestment option exercised.  

 
 

NOTE 19.        DIVIDENDS      

      

Final dividend 688,619 678,736   688,619 678,736  

      
      

NOTE 20. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX                                   

      

Profit before income tax has been determined  after 
charging the following expenses: 

   
 

  

      
Auditor’s remuneration for:      
- Audit fees  35,670  37,540    28,000  30,500 
- Other services  24,749  30,235    24,749  28,406 
Consultancy fees   13,044  32,336    16,032  7,769  
Actuarial services   106,342  92,998    106,342  92,998  
Directors’ fees  71,301  66,924    48,333  44,054  
FNPF contribution  77,633  184,700    67,226  171,283  
Salaries, wages, training levy and allowances  1,164,785  1,439,229    1,011,453  1,254,464  

      
      

NOTE 21. NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS    

    

a)       Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balance with banks. Cash and cash equivalents included 
in the statements of cash flows comprise the following statements of financial position amounts:  
      
Cash on hand and at bank 5,917,289 5,762,556   1,103,972 2,325,970  
      
Total cash and cash equivalents 5,917,289 5,762,556   1,103,972 2,325,970 

 

b)         Non-Cash Financing Activities  

 

Dividends 

 
In prior year, the holding company declared dividends of $678,736 out of which $217,449 was re-invested under the 
dividend reinvestment option. The consideration for the dividend re-invested was issue of 123,548 shares at $1.76 
per share. These re-investment transactions are not reflected in the statements of cash flows. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT'D] 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
 
NOTE 18. SHARE CAPITAL Consolidated  Holding Company 

 2020 2019  2020 2019 

 $ $  $ $ 

Issued and paid up capital      
Balance as at 1 January 2020: 8,607,742 ordinary 

shares (2019: 8,484,194 ordinary shares)  5,043,662  4,826,213    5,043,662  4,826,213  
Additional ordinary shares issued (a) - 217,449    -    217,449  
Balance as at 31 December 2020: 8,607,742      
  ordinary shares  5,043,662  5,043,662    5,043,662  5,043,662  

      
(a) It was resolved that no dividend reinvestment option will be made available after consideration of the 

company’s financial position. In prior year, 123,548 additional ordinary shares at $1.76 per share were 
issued by way of dividend reinvestment option exercised.  

 
 

NOTE 19.        DIVIDENDS      

      

Final dividend 688,619 678,736   688,619 678,736  

      
      

NOTE 20. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX                                   

      

Profit before income tax has been determined  after 
charging the following expenses: 

   
 

  

      
Auditor’s remuneration for:      
- Audit fees  35,670  37,540    28,000  30,500 
- Other services  24,749  30,235    24,749  28,406 
Consultancy fees   13,044  32,336    16,032  7,769  
Actuarial services   106,342  92,998    106,342  92,998  
Directors’ fees  71,301  66,924    48,333  44,054  
FNPF contribution  77,633  184,700    67,226  171,283  
Salaries, wages, training levy and allowances  1,164,785  1,439,229    1,011,453  1,254,464  

      
      

NOTE 21. NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS    

    

a)       Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and balance with banks. Cash and cash equivalents included 
in the statements of cash flows comprise the following statements of financial position amounts:  
      
Cash on hand and at bank 5,917,289 5,762,556   1,103,972 2,325,970  
      
Total cash and cash equivalents 5,917,289 5,762,556   1,103,972 2,325,970 

 

b)         Non-Cash Financing Activities  

 

Dividends 

 
In prior year, the holding company declared dividends of $678,736 out of which $217,449 was re-invested under the 
dividend reinvestment option. The consideration for the dividend re-invested was issue of 123,548 shares at $1.76 
per share. These re-investment transactions are not reflected in the statements of cash flows. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT'D] 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
 
NOTE 22. EARNINGS PER SHARE Consolidated 

 2020 2019 

 $ $ 

   

Profit for the year used in calculating earnings per share 1,597,328 4,404,908 
   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding used in    
calculating basic earnings per share 8,607,742 8,545,460 
   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding used in  
calculating diluted earnings per share 8,607,742 8,545,460 
   
Basic and diluted earnings per share – cents 18.56 51.55 
   
 

NOTE 23. LEASES Group  Holding Company 

 2020 2019  2020 2019 

 $ $  $ $ 
      
As a lessee      

      

(a) Right-of-use assets      

Balance at 1 January  347,911 129,408  347,911 129,408 
Additions for the year  -  367,172   -  367,172 
Depreciation charge for the year  (152,629) (148,669)   (152,629) (148,669) 
      
Balance at 31 December  195,282 347,911  195,282 347,911 
      
Lease liabilities      
Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted 

cash flows 

 
 

   

Less than one year 163,084 167,389   163,084 167,389  
One to five years 55,712 214,492   55,712 214,492  
      
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 

December   218,796 381,881  
 

218,796 381,881  
      
(b) Lease liabilities included in the statement of 

financial position at 31 December  
     

Current 155,400 151,177   155,400 151,177  
Non-current 55,791 207,335   55,791 207,335  
      
 211,191 358,512   211,191 358,512  
      
Amounts recognised in profit or loss       
Interest on lease liabilities 15,765 23,837  15,765 23,837 
Variable and short term lease payments not 
included in the measurement of lease liabilities 20,718 20,718 

 
- - 

      
 36,483 44,555  15,765 23,837 

Amounts recognised in the statement of cash 

flows 

     

      
Total cash outflow for leases 147,321 138,068  147,321 138,068 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT'D] 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
 
NOTE 23. LEASES (CONT’D) Consolidated  Holding Company 
 2020 2019  2020 2019 
 $ $  $ $ 
 
Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash  
flows from financing activities 
      
Balance at 1 January  358,512 129,408  358,512 129,408 
      
Changes from financing cash flows      
Payment of lease liabilities (147,321) (138,068)  (147,321) (138,068) 
      
Total changes from financing cash flows (147,321) (138,068)  (147,321) (138,068) 
      
Other changes – liability related      
New lease liabilities - 367,172  - 367,172 
Interest expense of lease liabilities 15,765 23,837  15,765 23,837 
Interest paid of lease liabilities (15,765) (23,837)  (15,765) (23,837) 
      
Total liability related other changes  - 367,172  - 367,172 
      
Balance at 31 December  211,191 358,512  211,191 358,512 
 
   

NOTE 24. COMMITMENTS   

      
a) Capital expenditure commitments as at 31 December 2020 amounted to $2,744,000 mainly for purchase of 

land (2019: $ Nil). 
      

b) Operating lease expense commitments           
contracted for rentals and services are as follows: 

     

      
 Not later than one year 110,272 46,186  94,004 25,472 
      
 Total operating lease expense commitments 110,272 46,186  94,004 25,472 

      
c) Operating lease income commitments contracted 

for rentals are as follows: 
     

      
 Not later than one year 76,149 100,899  76,149 100,899 
 Later than one year but not five years - 5,500  - 5,500 
      
 Total operating lease income commitments 76,149 106,399  76,149 106,399 
 
d) The subsidiary company, VanCare Insurance Limited is committed to pay the holding company, FijiCare 

Insurance Limited, management fees of $84,000 per annum. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT'D] 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
 

 NOTE 25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES Consolidated  Holding Company 

 2020 2019  2020 2019 

 $ $  $ $ 

      

Contingent liabilities exist with respect to the 
following: 

     

      
Indemnity guarantees 750 750  750 750 
Litigations (a) 56,559 56,559  56,559 56,559 
      
Total contingent liabilities 57,309 57,309  57,309 57,309 

 
(a) The holding company is subject to certain claims arising in the ordinary course of business. On the basis of 

advice received from the solicitors representing the holding company and assessment carried out by the 
management, the directors are confident that no significant liability, is expected to eventuate. 

 
 

NOTE 26. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANY 
 

 

Entity 
Place of 

Incorporation 

% 

Owned 

Investment Book Value 

2020 

($) 

2019 

($) 

     

VanCare Insurance Limited Vanuatu 100% 609,921 609,921 
     
   609,921 609,921 

 

 

NOTE 27. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 

(a) Operating segments 

 

The group operates predominantly in the insurance industry. 
 

  Medical and 

Health 

Term Life General 

Insurance 

Group 

Total 

  $ $ $ $ 

      
Revenue Dec 20 18,403,514 9,038,890 5,591,232 33,033,636 

 Dec 19 16,948,022 9,640,139 5,242,422 31,830,583 

      
Result (Revenue less  allocated 

costs) 
 
Dec 20 (2,162,677)        931,981 2,864,516 1,633,820 

 Dec 19 1,286,143  (1,258,417)   3,080,675 3,108,401 
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2019 
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The group operates predominantly in the insurance industry. 
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Term Life General 

Insurance 

Group 

Total 

  $ $ $ $ 

      
Revenue Dec 20 18,403,514 9,038,890 5,591,232 33,033,636 

 Dec 19 16,948,022 9,640,139 5,242,422 31,830,583 

      
Result (Revenue less  allocated 
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Add: Unallocated - other revenue:      
Dividend income, interest income, 
rental income, fair value gain on 
equity investments and on 
investment properties, gain on sale 
of fixed assets and miscellaneous 
income 

 
 
 
 
Dec 20 

 
 
 

   
 
 

 
 

 931,854  
 

Dec 19 
 

 
  

2,495,396 
      

Less: Unallocated – expenses and 

income tax 

 
Dec 20 

   
968,346 

 Dec 19    1,198,889 
      

Profit after income tax Dec 20    1,597,328  
 Dec 19    4,404,908 

      

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT'D] 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
 
NOTE 27.  SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d) 
 
Segment assets and liabilities 
 
Assets and liabilities cannot be reasonably allocated between the operating segments. Accordingly, 
this information has not been provided under segment information. 
 
Additional information 
 
Similarly, depreciation and other non-cash items cannot be reasonably allocated between the 
operating segments. Accordingly, this information has not been provided under segment information. 
 
(b) Geographical segment 
 
The group operates in Fiji and Vanuatu. 
 
Revenue from Fiji and Vanuatu operations amounts to $30,368,622 and $2,665,014, respectively. 
Profit after income tax from Fiji and Vanuatu operations amounts to $1,012,190 and $585,138, 
respectively. 
 
 
NOTE 28. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
 
(a) Directors 
 

The names of persons who were directors of the holding company at any time during the 
financial year are as follows: 

   
 Dumith Fernando – Chairman  
            Peter McPherson   
 Avinesh Raju  
 Jenny Seeto (appointed on 1 November 2020) 
 Sylvain Flore (appointed on 1 November 2020) 
    
(b) Holding company transactions with related parties 
 

NOTE 27. SEGMENT INFORMATION

FIJICARE INSURANCE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANY Page 43  

 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT'D] 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
 

 NOTE 25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES Consolidated  Holding Company 

 2020 2019  2020 2019 

 $ $  $ $ 
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% 
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The group operates predominantly in the insurance industry. 
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Health 

Term Life General 

Insurance 

Group 

Total 

  $ $ $ $ 

      
Revenue Dec 20 18,403,514 9,038,890 5,591,232 33,033,636 
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Result (Revenue less  allocated 

costs) 
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 Dec 19 1,286,143  (1,258,417)   3,080,675 3,108,401 
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NOTE 27. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

Segment assets and liabilities

Assets and liabilities cannot be reasonably allocated between the operating segments. Accordingly, this information 
has not been provided under segment information.

Additional information

Similarly, depreciation and other non-cash items cannot be reasonably allocated between the operating segments. Ac-
cordingly, this information has not been provided under segment information.

(b) Geographical segment

The group operates in Fiji and Vanuatu.

Revenue from Fiji and Vanuatu operations amounts to $30,368,622 and $2,665,014, respectively. Profit after income tax 
from Fiji and Vanuatu operations amounts to $1,012,190 and $585,138, respectively.

NOTE 28. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) Directors

The names of persons who were directors of the holding company at any time during the financial year are as follows:
 
 Dumith Fernando – Chairman 
            Peter McPherson  
 Avinesh Raju 
 Jenny Seeto (appointed on 1 November 2020)
 Sylvain Flore (appointed on 1 November 2020)

(b) Holding company transactions with related parties

Transactions with related parties during the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 with approximate transaction 
values are summarized as follows:

(c) Amounts due to and receivable from related parties:

Appropriate disclosure of these amounts is contained in Note 9 and Note 15 to the financial statements.

(d) Ownership Interests

The ownership interests in subsidiary company is disclosed in Note 26.
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Revenue from Fiji and Vanuatu operations amounts to $30,368,622 and $2,665,014, respectively. Profit after 
income tax from Fiji and Vanuatu operations amounts to $1,012,190 and $585,138, respectively. 
 
 
 
NOTE 28. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
 
(a) Directors 
 

The names of persons who were directors of the holding company at any time during the financial year 
are as follows: 

   
 Dumith Fernando – Chairman  
            Peter McPherson   
 Avinesh Raju  
 Jenny Seeto (appointed on 1 November 2020) 
 Sylvain Flore (appointed on 1 November 2020) 
    
(b) Holding company transactions with related parties 
 

Transactions with related parties during the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 with approximate 
transaction values are summarized as follows: 

 

Related Party Relationship Nature of transaction 
2020 

($) 
2019 

($) 
     
     
VanCare Insurance 
Limited 

Subsidiary company Various expenses paid on behalf 
of the subsidiary to be 
reimbursed 

Management fees 
Reinsurance premium income 

 
 

19,612 
84,000 

402,724 

 
 

26,591 
77,000 

377,267 
     
PremiumCare 
Medical Centre 

Director related entity Rental income 34,899 34,899 

  Management fees 1,800 5,400 
 

(c) Amounts due to and receivable from related parties: 
 

Appropriate disclosure of these amounts is contained in Note 9 to the financial statements.  
 
(d) Ownership Interests 
 
 The ownership interests in subsidiary company is disclosed in Note 26. 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT'D] 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
 
NOTE 28. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONT’D) 
 
(e) Key management personnel 
 
 Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 

and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive 
or otherwise) of that entity.  
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NOTE 28. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONT’D)

(e) Key management personnel

 Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) 
of that entity. 

 During the year, Managing Director, Executive Director, Group Chief Operating Officer, Group Chief Financial Officer, 
Group Chief Information Officer, Group Chief Marketing Officer,  Business Development Manager, Micro Insurance 
Manager and Claims Manager were identified as key management personnel, with the greatest authority and 
responsibility for the planning, directing and controlling the activities of the holding company and the group. 

 The remuneration of the key management personnel during the year was as follows:

NOTE 29. INSURANCE CONTRACTS RISK MANAGEMENT

A key risk from operating in the general insurance industry is the exposure to insurance risk arising from underwrit-
ing general insurance contracts. The insurance contracts transfer risk to the insurer by indemnifying the policyholders 
against adverse effects arising from the occurrence of specified uncertain future events. The risk is that the actual 
amount of claims to be paid in relation to contracts will be different to the amount estimated at the time a product was 
designed and priced.

The consolidated entity is exposed to this risk because the price for a contract must be set before the losses relating to 
the product are known. Hence the insurance business involves inherent uncertainty. The consolidated entity also faces 
other risks relating to the conduct of the general insurance business including financial risks.
 
A fundamental part of the overall risk management strategy is the effective governance and management of the risks 
that impact the amount, timing and uncertainty of the cash flows arising from insurance contracts.

(a) Risk management objectives and policies for mitigating insurance risk

The insurance activities primarily involve the underwriting of risks and the management of claims. A disciplined ap-
proach to risk management is adopted rather than a premium volume or market share oriented approach. It is believed 
this approach provides the greatest long term likelihood of being able to meet the objectives of all stakeholders, includ-
ing policyholders, lenders and equity holders.

The risk management activities can be broadly separated into underwriting (acceptance and pricing risk), claims man-
agement and investment management. The objective of these risk management functions is to enhance the longer term 
financial performance of the overall insurance operations.
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 During the year, Managing Director, Executive Director, Group Chief Operating Officer, Group Chief 
Financial Officer, Group Chief Information Officer, Group Chief Marketing Officer,  Business Development 
Manager, Micro Insurance Manager and Claims Manager were identified as key management personnel, 
with the greatest authority and responsibility for the planning, directing and controlling the activities of 
the holding company and the group.  

 
 The remuneration of the key management personnel during the year was as follows: 
 
 
 
 

  2020 2019 
 $ $ 
   
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 1,142,325 1,102,641 
Director fees – executive 51,301 45,753 

 
 
NOTE 29. INSURANCE CONTRACTS RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
A key risk from operating in the general insurance industry is the exposure to insurance risk arising from 
underwriting general insurance contracts. The insurance contracts transfer risk to the insurer by indemnifying 
the policyholders against adverse effects arising from the occurrence of specified uncertain future events. The 
risk is that the actual amount of claims to be paid in relation to contracts will be different to the amount 
estimated at the time a product was designed and priced. 
 
The consolidated entity is exposed to this risk because the price for a contract must be set before the losses 
relating to the product are known. Hence the insurance business involves inherent uncertainty. The 
consolidated entity also faces other risks relating to the conduct of the general insurance business including 
financial risks.   
 
A fundamental part of the overall risk management strategy is the effective governance and management of the 
risks that impact the amount, timing and uncertainty of the cash flows arising from insurance contracts. 
 
(a) Risk management objectives and policies for mitigating insurance risk 
 
The insurance activities primarily involve the underwriting of risks and the management of claims. A disciplined 
approach to risk management is adopted rather than a premium volume or market share oriented approach. It 
is believed this approach provides the greatest long term likelihood of being able to meet the objectives of all 
stakeholders, including policyholders, lenders and equity holders. 
 
The risk management activities can be broadly separated into underwriting (acceptance and pricing risk), claims 
management and investment management. The objective of these risk management functions is to enhance the 
longer term financial performance of the overall insurance operations. 
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NOTE 29. INSURANCE CONTRACTS RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(a) Risk management objectives and policies for mitigating insurance risk (Cont’d)

The key policies in place to mitigate risks arising from underwriting insurance contracts include the following:

• Acceptance of risk – Insurance and reinsurance policies are written in accordance with local management practices 
and regulations within each jurisdiction. Maximum limits are set for the acceptance of risk on an individual contract 
basis. Management information systems are maintained that provide up-to-date, reliable data on the risks to which 
the business is exposed at any point in time. Efforts are made, including plain language policy terms, to ensure 
there is no misalignment between what policyholders perceive will be paid when a policy is initially sold and what is 
actually paid when a claim is made.

• Pricing – Statistical models are used which combine historical and projected data to calculate premiums and mon-
itor claims patterns for each class of business. The data used includes historical pricing and claims analysis for 
each class of business as well as current developments in the respective markets and classes of business.

• Reinsurance – The use of reinsurance to limit exposure to large single claims and the accumulation of claims that 
arise from the same event or the accumulation of similar events. This includes the monitoring of reinsurers’ credit 
risk to control exposure to reinsurance counterparty default.

• Claims management – Initial claim determination is managed by claims officers with the requisite degree of expe-
rience and competence with the assistance, where appropriate, or other party with specialist knowledge. It is the 
holding company and group’s policy to respond and settle claims quickly whenever possible and to pay claims fairly, 
based on the policyholder’s full entitlements.

• Investment management – Assets and liabilities are managed so as to effectively match the expected pattern of 
claims payments with the assets that are held to back insurance liabilities.

(b) Terms and conditions of insurance contracts

The terms and conditions attaching to insurance contracts affect the level of insurance risk accepted. Insurance con-
tracts are generally entered into on an annual basis and at the time of entering into a contract all terms and conditions 
are negotiable or, in the case of renewals, renegotiable. The majority of direct insurance contracts written are entered 
into on a standard form basis. Non-standard and long term policies may only be written if expressly approved by a per-
son with appropriate delegated authority. There are no special terms and conditions in any non-standard contracts that 
would have a material impact on the financial statements.

(c) Credit risk

Financial assets or liabilities arising from insurance contracts are presented on the statement of financial position at the 
amount that best represents the maximum credit risk exposure at the reporting date.

The credit risk relating to insurance contracts relates primarily to premium receivable which is due from individual pol-
icyholders and intermediaries (brokers and agents). The brokers and agents collect premium from policyholders and 
remit the monies to the insurer in accordance with contractual arrangements. The recoverability of premium receivable 
is assessed and provision is made for impairment based on objective evidence and having regard to past default expe-
rience.

(d) Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of financial loss (including lost opportunities) resulting from external events and/or inade-
quate or failed internal processes, people and systems to perform as required. Operational risk can have overlaps with 
all of the other risk categories. When controls fail, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, can have legal or 
regulatory implications or can lead to financial loss. The group cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but by 
initiating a rigorous control framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, is able to manage risks.
 
Operational risk is identified and assessed on an ongoing basis and the capital management strategy includes consid-
eration of operational risk. Management and staff are responsible for identifying, assessing and managing operational 
risks in accordance with their roles and responsibilities.
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NOTE 30. RISK MANAGEMENT

The group is exposed to a variety of financial risks in the normal course of business; market risk (foreign exchange risk, 
interest rate risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The group’s overall risk management programme 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the group’s 
financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by executive management. Executive management identifies, evaluates and monitors 
financial risks in close co-operation with the operating units.

(a) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in the market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rate and equity prices 
will affect the group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk manage-
ment is to control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters while optimising the return on risk.

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The group does not have significant transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate 
fluctuations is minimal.

(ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. The exposure to interest rate risk results from the holding of financial assets and liabilities in 
the normal course of business.

Fixed interest rate assets and variable interest rate liabilities create exposure to fair value interest rate risk. The group 
mitigates interest rate risk by maintaining an appropriate mix of instruments.

(iii) Equity price risk

Equity price risk is defined as exposure to movements in investment prices /values, i.e., the dollar effect of a change in 
market price /value of investments. The holding company minimizes the risks by:

a) Diversifying the investments portfolio across assets classes;

b) Diversifying the equity and debt portfolios across sectors and securities to the prescribed limit;

c) Proper asset (stock) selection based on relative value after a research process; and

d) Appropriate investments limits that covers asset allocation, concentration, regional location and currency.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss as a result of failure by a customer or counterparty to meet its contractual obliga-
tions. Credit risk is managed at group and at individual company level.

Credit risk relating to insurance contracts is disclosed in Note 29(c).

Credit risk also arises from cash at banks and deposits with banks. Deposits are made only with reputable financial 
institutions which are regulated by Reserve Bank of Fiji with known sound financial standing.

The group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties 
having similar characteristics. The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any 
allowances for losses, represents the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.
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NOTE 30. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is concerned with the risk of there being insufficient cash resources to meet payment obligations without 
affecting the daily operations or the financial condition of the group. Liquidity facilitates the ability to meet expected and 
unexpected requirements for cash. The liquidity position is derived from operating cash flows, investment portfolios 
and access to outside sources of liquidity such as bank, reinsurance arrangements and other sources.

Sound liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of fund-
ing through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close-out market positions. The nature 
of insurance activities means that the timing and amount of cash flows are uncertain.

Management of liquidity risk includes asset and liability management strategies. The assets held to back insurance 
liabilities consist predominantly of held-to-maturity investments. The assets are managed so as to effectively match the 
maturity profile of the assets with the expected pattern of claims payments. 

The group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities 
by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows.

(d) Other risk

Regulatory risk

The group’s profitability can be impacted by regulatory agencies which govern the business sector in Fiji. Specifically, 
financial transactions are monitored by Reserve Bank of Fiji (RBF) and Reserve Bank of Vanuatu (RBV), and as an authorised 
underwriter of insurance risks, the group is subject to licence and regulatory control by RBF and RBV.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONT'D] 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 
 
NOTE 31. MATURITY ANALYSIS 
  
The following analysis of monetary assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is based on contractual 
terms. 
 
 31 December 2020 – Consolidated 

 At call 1 day to 3 
months 

Over 3 
months to 

1 year 

Over 1 
year to 5 

years 

Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ 
Assets      
Cash on hand and at bank  5,917,289 - - - 5,917,289 
Trade and other receivables - 9,428,379 567,935 155,727 10,152,041 
Financial assets at fair value through profit  

or loss - - 4,059,011 - 4,059,011 
Held-to maturity investments - - 13,606,617 200,000 13,806,617 
Current tax asset - - 221,701 - 221,701 
 5,917,289 9,428,379 18,455,264 355,727 34,156,659 
      
Liabilities      
Trade and other payables - 1,393,404 - - 1,393,404 
Insurance contract liabilities, net of 
unearned premium - 7,857,923 - - 7,857,923 
 -    9,251,327  -    -     9,251,327  
 
 31 December 2019 – Consolidated 
 At call 1 day to 3 

months 
Over 3 

months to 
1 year 

Over 1 
year to 5 

years 

Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ 
Assets      
Cash on hand and at bank  5,762,556  - - - 5,762,556 
Trade and other receivables - 10,812,395 456,880  213,607  11,482,882 
Financial assets at fair value through profit  

or loss - - 3,813,978  - 
 

3,813,978 
Held-to maturity investments - - 12,544,740   398,344  12,943,084 
Current tax asset - - 8,743  - 8,743 
 5,762,556 10,812,395 16,824,341 611,951 34,011,243 
      
Liabilities      
Trade and other payables - 1,834,204  - - 1,834,204  
Insurance contract liabilities, net of 
unearned premium - 6,419,493 - - 6,419,493 
 -    8,253,697  -    -    8,253,697  
 
 
NOTE 32. SIGNIFICANT EVENT DURING THE YEAR 
 
The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and the measures adopted by governments in countries worldwide to 
mitigate the pandemic’s spread have significantly impacted companies across the globe. Since its declaration as 
a pandemic in March 2020, COVID-19 has had an impact on the operations and financial performance of the 
FijiCare Group. Unprecedented travel bans imposed as a response to minimising the spread of COVID-19 have 
increased the overall cost of medical claims. The Group remains in a sound financial position with a strong 
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FijiCare Insurance Limited and Subsidiary Company Notes to the Financial Statements [CONT’D] 
for the Year Ended 31 December 2020

NOTE 32. SIGNIFICANT EVENT DURING THE YEAR

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and the measures adopted by governments in countries worldwide to mitigate 
the pandemic’s spread have significantly impacted companies across the globe. Since its declaration as a pandemic 
in March 2020, COVID-19 has had an impact on the operations and financial performance of the FijiCare Group. 
Unprecedented travel bans imposed as a response to minimising the spread of COVID-19 have increased the overall 
cost of medical claims. The Group remains in a sound financial position with a strong balance sheet and solid liquidity 
position. The Directors are satisfied that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence and as 
such has adopted the going concern basis in preparing and presenting these financial statements.

NOTE 33. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which would require adjustments to, or 
disclosure in the financial statements.

NOTE 34. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 30 March 2021. 
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SOUTH PACIFIC STOCK EXCHANGE - LISTING REQUIREMENTS

1. Statements of Interest (direct and indirect) of each director in the share capital of the company 
as at 31 December 2020

Peter McPhersonAvi Raju

6,533,176
Indirect Interest

(Number of Shares)

172,295
Indirect Interest

(Number of Shares)

2. Distribution of Ordinary Shareholders:

No. of Shareholders Shareholding Total Percentrage Holding

13,274 Less Then 500 3.13%

49 501 to 5,000 0.92%

8 5,001 to 10,000 0.66%

7 10,001 to 20,000 1.15%

5 20,001 to 30,001 1.32%

0 30,001 to 40,000 0%

0 40,001 to 50,000 0%

3 50,001 to 100,000 2.59%

4 100,001 to 1,000,000 14.33%

1 Over 1,000,000 75.90%

13,351 Total 100%
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SOUTH PACIFIC STOCK EXCHANGE - LISTING REQUIREMENTS [CONT’D]

3. Disclosure on the trading results of the subsidiary company under section 51.2 (x)

VanCare Insurance Limited

2020
$

2019
$

Revenue 2,665,014 3,056,172
Other income 89,464 74,138

Less:
Depreciation (48,038) (40,346)
Other expenses (1,537,655) (1,894,704)
Income tax expenses - -

1,168,785 1,195,260
Add loan from parent company written off/forgiven - -

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 1,168,785 1,195,260

2020
$

2019
$

Total Assets 5,780,786 5,075,404

Total Liabilities 3,037,846 3,005,252

Shareholders Equity 2,743,030 2,070,152
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SOUTH PACIFIC STOCK EXCHANGE - LISTING REQUIREMENTS [CONT’D]

4. Top Twenty Shareholders

As of 31st December 2020, the twenty largest shareholders held 8,202,489 shares which is equal to 95.29% of the total 
issued 8,607,742 fully paid shares.

Mount Sophia Ventures
(Fiji) PTE Limited

6,533,176

Unit Trust of Fiji 
(Trustee Company) Ltd

475,914

Platinum Insurance Limited

394,547

Capital Insurance Limited

191,055

Tutanekai Investments 
Limited

81,533

Honwing William Yee

12,993

Mehboob Raza Raza

11,690

1 2 3

4 5 6

7 8 9

10 11 12

13 14 15

16 17 18

19 20

Stronghold Investment Inc

346,395

Stronghold Investment Inc

346,395

Stronghold Investment Inc

172,295

FHL Media Limited

70,736

Fazal Khan

10,615
Julianne Verma

10,848

Arivakisati Bovoro

14,943

Griffon Emose

17,616

Jimaima T Schultz

20,000

Fijian Development Fund 
Board

21,787

Sowani Tuidrola & 
Makereta B Tuidrola

22,401

Oceania Marist Province

22,561
Ken Kung

22,636

CEPAC Secretariat

24,407

FHL Trustees Ltd ATF
       Fijian Holdings Unit Trust 

70,736

ANNUAL REPORT - 2021

FIJICARE INSURANCE LIMITED 

Page  |   91



Annual Report 2020  |   

SOUTH PACIFIC STOCK EXCHANGE - LISTING REQUIREMENTS [CONT’D]

5. Disclosure under Section 51.2 (xiv):

Summary of Key Financial results for the previous five years (Consolidated)

2020
$

2019
$

2018
$

2017
$

2016
$

Net Profit / 
(Loss) after Tax 1,597,328 4,404,908 3,458,967 1,531,971 722,778

Current
Assets 34,991,310 34,581,398 28,327,379 16,571,580 13,069,832

Non - Current 
Assets 3,880,198 4,268,115 3,523,880 3,416,455 2,626,917

Total
Assets 38,871,508 38,849,513 31,851,259 19,988,035 15,696,749

Current 
Liabilities 22,327,243 23,150,505 20,247,477 11,665,814 9,161,708

Non - Current 
Liabilities 201,511 349,404 146,636 142,205 74,336

Total
Liabilities 22,528,754 23,499,909 20,394,113 11,808,019 9,236,044

Shareholders 
Equity 16,342,754 15,349 ,604 11,457,146 8,180,016 6,460,705

Summary of Key financial results for the previous five years for the Holding company:

2020
$

2019
$

2018
$

2017
$

2016
$

Net Profit / 
(Loss) after Tax 1,012,190 3,759,637 2,730,213 1,260,356 664,423

Current
Assets 29,339,707 30,293,141 24,516,873 14,339,006 11,285,820

Non - Current 
Assets 4,407,337 4,565,057 3,837,455 3,957,095 3,361,118

Total
Assets 33,747,044 34,858,198 28,354,328 18,296,101 14,646,938

Current 
Liabilities 19,335,331 20,622,163 17,619,411 10,230,859 7,855,260

Non - Current 
Liabilities 201,511 349,404 146,636 142,338 73,680

Total
Liabilities 19,536,842 20,971,567 17,766,047 10,373,197 7,928,940

Shareholders 
Equity 14,210,202 13,886 ,631 10,588,281 7,922,904 6,717,998
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SOUTH PACIFIC STOCK EXCHANGE - LISTING REQUIREMENTS [CONT’D]

6. Disclosure under Section 51.2 (xv) (a):

Dividend declared per share:

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Cents per share 0.05 0.08 0.08 0.04 0.04

7. Disclosure under Section 51.2 (xv) (b):

Earnings / (Loss) per share (Consolidated):

Basic Earnings / (Loss) per share

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Cents per share 18.56 51.54 41.14 19.06 9.50

Diluted Earnings / (Loss) per share

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Cents per share 18.56 51.54 41.14 19.06 9.50

8. Disclosure under Section 51.2 (xv) (c):

Net tangible assets per share (Group):

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Cents per share 1.86 1.75 1.34 1.00 0.82

9. Disclosure under Section 51.2 (xv) (d):

Share price during the year (Cents per share) 2020 2019 2018

Highest 5.80 2.45 1.55

Lowest 2.45 1.53 1.16

On 31st December 5.80 2.45 1.55
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SOUTH PACIFIC STOCK EXCHANGE - LISTING REQUIREMENTS [CONT’D]

10. Disclosure under Section 51.2 (viii):

Meetings of the Board
 

Director Number of Meetings 
Entitled To Attend

Number of Meetings 
Attended

Number of Meetings 
Apology Given

Mr. Dumith Fernando 4 4 N/A

Mr. Avi Raju 4 4 N/A

Mr. Peter McPherson 4 4 N/A

Ms. Jenny Seeto 2 2 N/A

Mr. Sylvain Flore 2 2 N/A

Company Secretary Number of Meetings 
Entitled To Attend

Number of Meetings 
Attended

Number of Meetings 
Apology Given

Mr. Victor Robert 4 4 N/A

The Board met 4 times during the financial year ended 31st December 2020
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SOUTH PACIFIC STOCK EXCHANGE - LISTING REQUIREMENTS [CONT’D]

11. Disclosure under Section 51.2 (ix):

Listed Securities Quantity Current Value
$

Total Value
$

Paradise Beverages (Fiji) Limited 13,848  21.94 303,825

Atlantic & Pacific Packaging Company Limited 23,000 1.70 39,100

RB Patel Group Limited 312,500     3.53 1,103,125

Communications (Fiji) Limited 35,000   6.22 217,700

Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited 176,396  1.84 324,569

The Rice Company of Fiji Limited 22,000  11.30 252,780

Fiji Television Limited 12,085 4.65 56,195

FMF Foods Limited 191,147 2.11 403,320

VB Holdings Limited 3,143     6.00 18,858

Pleass Global Limited 61,879               2.85 176,355

Toyota Tsusho (South Sea) Limited 10,000          18.00 180,000

Vision Investments Limited 50,000          4.68 234,000

Kontiki Finance Limited 114,002        1.07 121,982

Port Denarau Marina Limited 250,000        2.15 537,500

TOTAL 1,275,000 3,969,309

Unlisted Securities Quantity Current Value
 $

Total Value 
$

The Fiji Gas Company Limited 3,310     27.10 89,701

TOTAL 3,310 89,701
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Contact Info

Level 9, FNPF Place, 343-359 Victoria Parade, Suva, Fiji.
PO Box 15808, Suva, Fiji.

Phone: 3302 717   |   Fax: 3302 119
Email: customercare@fijicare.com.fj

www.fijicare.com.fj

Find Us On:


